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 LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY OF ONTARIO ASSEMBLÉE LÉGISLATIVE DE L’ONTARIO 

STANDING COMMITTEE ON 
PUBLIC ACCOUNTS 

COMITÉ PERMANENT DES 
COMPTES PUBLICS 

 Wednesday 30 October 2013 Mercredi 30 octobre 2013 

The committee met at 0804 in room 151. 

COMMITTEE BUSINESS 
The Chair (Mr. Norm Miller): I’d like to call the 

meeting to order. The first thing we have to deal with is a 
motion filed by France Gélinas requesting the Auditor 
General to examine the estimated cost of the cancelled 
nuclear reactors at Darlington nuclear generating station. 
Ms. Forster, go ahead. 

Ms. Cindy Forster: Thank you. We don’t intend to 
proceed with the motion that Ms. Gélinas tabled on 
October 23, but we do have another motion that we’d like 
to table today and deal with next week. 

The Chair (Mr. Norm Miller): Okay, very well. Will 
is going to get it from you. 

Seeing as we’re not going to be talking about that mo-
tion this morning, then there are a few items of corres-
pondence that should remain confidential. So we shall go 
into closed session to discuss those prior to having our 
witness this morning. 

We will go into closed session now. 
The committee continued in closed session from 0805 

to 0822. 

SPECIAL REPORT, AUDITOR GENERAL: 
ORNGE AIR AMBULANCE 
AND RELATED SERVICES 

TRANSPORT CANADA 
The Chair (Mr. Norm Miller): I’d like to call the 

committee to order. Welcome, from Transport Canada, 
Mr. Imi Waljee, associate director, operations west, civil 
aviation; and Mr. Yves Lemieux, acting associate direc-
tor, operations east, civil aviation. Welcome to the 
committee. Thank you for taking the time to come in this 
morning. 

To confirm: You’ve received a letter with information 
for someone coming before the committee? 

Mr. Imi Waljee: Yes. 
The Chair (Mr. Norm Miller): Our Clerk will have 

you do either an affirmation or an oath. 
The Clerk of the Committee (Mr. William Short): 

I’ll just start with Mr. Waljee. If you could just raise your 
right hand. Mr. Waljee, do you solemnly affirm that the 
evidence you shall give to this committee touching the 

subject of the present inquiry shall be the truth, the whole 
truth and nothing but the truth? 

Mr. Imi Waljee: Yes, I do. 
The Clerk of the Committee (Mr. William Short): 

Thank you. 
Mr. Lemieux, same thing? Thank you. Mr. Lemieux, 

do you solemnly affirm that the evidence you shall give 
to this committee touching the subject of the present 
inquiry shall be the truth, the whole truth and nothing but 
the truth? 

Mr. Yves Lemieux: Yes, I do. 
The Clerk of the Committee (Mr. William Short): 

Thank you. 
The Chair (Mr. Norm Miller): You have up to 20 

minutes for a statement. Use as much or as little time as 
you like of that, and then we’ll go to questioning from 
the three parties. 

Mr. Imi Waljee: Good morning, Mr. Chair, and 
members of the standing committee. I am Imi Waljee, 
associate director for operations west, and my colleague 
is Yves Lemieux, acting associate director, operations 
east. We both represent Transport Canada Civil Aviation, 
Ontario region. 

As associate directors, we are accountable for the ef-
fective and efficient management of the civil aviation 
safety oversight program for the enterprises we are as-
signed within the industry in Ontario and to support the 
safety of civil aviation within Canada’s borders. Some of 
our responsibilities include conducting audits and inspec-
tions, and managing and overseeing all service, valida-
tion and assessment activities associated with various 
enterprises. These enterprises are comprised of air carri-
ers, airports, heliports, manufacturers, flight schools and 
maintenance organizations. All this work is done under 
the authority of the Canadian Aviation Regulations and 
the Aeronautics Act, while overseeing the integration of 
safety intelligence and application of risk management 
processes and procedures. 

Civil Aviation’s mission is to develop and administer 
policies and regulations for the safest civil aviation sys-
tem for Canada, while using a systems-based approach to 
managing risks. This mission is based on the concept that 
intervention strategies, such as rule-making, oversight, 
and certification, are tools used to mitigate risk. While 
members of the aviation industry are our direct clients, 
the Canadian public is ultimately the beneficiary of our 
services. 
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Transport Canada defines safety as “the condition to 
which risks are managed to acceptable levels.” Through 
aviation safety oversight, Civil Aviation verifies the avi-
ation industry’s compliance with the regulations through 
two sub-activities: service to the aviation industry and 
surveillance of aviation safety. 

While the end product of service is the delivery of a 
certificate, a licence or other documents to an aviation 
stakeholder, the underlying purpose of these activities is 
for the department to reasonably assure itself that indi-
viduals, organizations and/or aeronautical products can 
operate safely and in compliance with applicable regula-
tory requirements. 

Transport Canada conducts system-based surveillance 
of the aviation system to monitor the aviation industry for 
compliance with the regulatory framework. This is done 
through a risk-based approach, primarily through assess-
ments and inspections. 

Transport Canada is evolving the manner in which it 
approaches its surveillance responsibilities of all enter-
prises it regulates. This evolution in approach is consist-
ent with the principles of safety management systems 
where the enterprise is expected to take an ownership 
role in proactively managing their safety risks on an on-
going basis. 

Transport Canada’s role is to ensure that all enter-
prises have effective systems and processes in place for 
complying with regulatory requirements. The depart-
ment’s surveillance activities confirm that these systems 
remain effective. 

The ultimate aim of surveillance is to monitor compli-
ance with regulatory requirements. To that end, all enter-
prises have an obligation to comply with their regulatory 
requirements at all times. Should a surveillance activity 
uncover any instances of non-compliance with the regu-
lations, the department will take appropriate action. 

Findings of non-compliance are meant to have enter-
prises correct their systems in such a way that they return 
to compliance and maintain that state. Regardless of the 
form of the action, the onus is on the enterprise to main-
tain compliance with regulatory requirements. 

Transport Canada’s surveillance activities fall under 
two broad categories, planned and unplanned, where 
unplanned surveillance includes all those surveillance 
activities conducted in response to an unforeseen event or 
issue—for example, an accident, an incident, an increase 
in an enterprise risk indicator level etc.—and planned 
surveillance includes all those surveillance activities 
conducted at a predetermined interval in accordance with 
Transport Canada’s approved surveillance plan. 

Transport Canada is taking a standardized, risk-based 
approach to planning surveillance activities across all 
operational areas, taking into account all available safety 
information regarding approved enterprises. Surveillance 
policy details the process through which risk-based 
intervals are assigned for conducting planned surveil-
lance activities. Planned surveillance intervals range from 
one year to five years, depending on the risk profile of an 
organization. 

Both Yves and I are here to respond to your questions 
on Transport Canada’s regulatory oversight role. We 
thank you for giving us the opportunity to appear today, 
and we welcome your questions. Thank you, Mr. Chair. 

The Chair (Mr. Norm Miller): Thank you very much 
for that opening statement. We’ll start with the oppos-
ition and Mr. Klees. We’ll go with 20-minute rotations to 
begin with, and then see how much time we have left. 

Go ahead, Mr. Klees. 
0830 

Mr. Frank Klees: Thank you, Mr. Waljee and Mr. 
Lemieux, for joining us today. 

Transport Canada conducted two program validation 
inspections at Ornge bases between January 9 and Janu-
ary 24 of this year. You described the safety management 
system under which you’re working. Can you explain to 
us, just very briefly, what the purpose is of these program 
validation inspections and how often they are conducted? 
You did say that they’re conducted anywhere from one 
to—five years, was it?— 

Mr. Imi Waljee: Correct. 
Mr. Frank Klees: —depending on the risk profile of 

an organization. With regard to Ornge, could you just 
give us a sense of where Ornge fits into that risk profile? 
And how often do you conduct these reports? 

Mr. Imi Waljee: Okay. I’ll start with giving a very 
quick background on our policy and how we do our risk 
profiling. 

To set it within context, Ornge has got two companies. 
One is a fixed-wing operation, which was approved back 
in 2009. They also have an approved maintenance organ-
ization under the fixed-wing operation, which was ap-
proved in 2011. The rotary wing is a company called 
7506406 Canada Inc., which was approved in 2012. 
That’s just the context of the organization. 

When we look at our planning and how we do our 
risk-based profile, we have our policy document, which 
says that we have our system called NASIMS, which is 
the national aviation safety information management 
system, which has about 60 to 70 questions where we 
populate based upon our knowledge of an organization. 
For example, it asks you questions on: Has the company 
had a turnover in staff? Has the company grown in size? 
Has the company got any labour difficulties? We start 
populating those answers, so that gives us a risk value. 

Then the next step we look at is what is the risk profile 
of this company in the sense of its complexity? How 
many bases does it have? How many aircraft does it 
operate? Is it an international operation? Does it have a 
safety management system in place? Then we tabulate 
the results of that and we get a risk index. 

Then we look at what the impact value of an organiza-
tion is. The impact value is based upon whether the com-
pany has a high profile. Are they going to be in an area 
which is going to be a risky area? When we tabulate this 
thing, we use what is known as a surveillance indicator 
matrix. Once we plot that, it gives us a surveillance value 
which says that you will do a program validation inspec-
tion at a one-year period, a two-year period, a three-year 
period, a four-year period or a five-year period. 
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One thing to remember very clearly here is that a risk 
profile does not identify whether the company is in non-
compliance of regulations or whether it is safe or unsafe. 
What it does is it shows a change in the state of the or-
ganization. When we populate it, we say the company is 
in a stable situation. Let’s say now they have a few air-
craft. We populate our system, and it shows a change; we 
get a change in the numbers. 

This risk profile is simply a methodology for us to 
determine where does the company sit in terms of man-
aging change? 

Mr. Frank Klees: I thank you for that. That’s very 
helpful. Could I ask you where Ornge fits into that risk 
profile? 

Mr. Imi Waljee: Let’s look at 7506406 Canada Inc., 
which is the rotary wing. Like I mentioned, it was ap-
proved in 2012. 

Mr. Frank Klees: When in 2012? 
Mr. Imi Waljee: The certificate was issued on Janu-

ary 16, 2012. 
Mr. Frank Klees: Okay. 
Mr. Imi Waljee: Because that is a new company—

when I talked in my opening remarks, we talked about 
how we do our surveillance based on service and over-
sight. When we talked about service, we said service in-
cludes the issuing of a certificate, a document or a 
licence. When a company—well, I’m not sure it’s Ornge, 
but it says 7506406 Canada Inc.—was approved, we en-
sured that the company met the minimum regulatory 
requirements at the time, which say they do have a 
qualified crew, they have maintenance requirements for 
their aircraft, they have infrastructure in place. That sets 
our baseline, based on a risk profile. 

Then we say because this is a new operation, and it is 
in an area of a very risky operation because of the way 
they operate their helicopters, the way they’re doing a 
service, we want to assure ourselves that they are main-
taining regulatory compliance, so we give them one year. 

The reason why we say one year is because if you 
look at the maintenance requirements of an air operator, 
it says when a new certificate is issued, the air operator 
has got 12 months in which to conduct their internal 
audit. When they conduct an internal audit, our expecta-
tion is that they are identifying all the shortcomings, and 
they are fixing them and rectifying them so that they 
don’t go into non-compliance. We come in after a year, 
to ensure that the company is still maintaining the regula-
tory compliance. 

Mr. Frank Klees: Okay. I’d like to then move on 
to—and again, we’re now dealing with the rotary wing 
report that was dated March 1, 2013. 

In a letter, Transport Canada advised Ornge that on-
site interviews with key personnel had taken place. There 
was a sampling of records and observance of work at the 
base. Transport Canada inspectors, according to that 
letter, have found a number of non-conformances to the 
company operations manual, as well as Canadian Avi-
ation Regulations. 

For the record, Chair, this is PVI file 5015-17559-17. 

I’m reading from the Transport Canada letter dated 
March 1, 2013. This was addressed to Mr. Robert Giguere, 
who is the accountable executive. I quote for the record: 
“There were strong indicators that areas of the operation-
al control system were not effective … On-site inter-
views revealed confusion both at the management level, 
and with the flight crews….” 

The letter goes on to confirm that operations at some 
bases were suspended as a result of those findings. I 
quote again from the letter: “Flight crew members who 
had not completed the entire flight and ground training 
program were removed from flight operations until all 
training requirements were met. Additionally, flight oper-
ations at some bases were temporarily suspended until all 
program requirements were complete.” 

Is it a common occurrence, with the operations over 
which you have responsibility, that flight operations 
would be suspended by Transport Canada following one 
of these inspections? Is that something that you see 
happen commonly? 

Mr. Imi Waljee: Mr. Chair, it would be speculation 
on my part to answer if I see that commonly. I’d like to 
speak to the policy on how we address these short-
comings when they’re identified with a PVI, based on 
our policy and procedures which we adhere to. 

In this particular instance, when the shortcomings 
were identified by the PVI team at Ornge, the company 
took their own actions of saying, “We will not dispatch 
any more crew unless we train them.” The actions were 
taken by the company in this particular instance, so— 

Mr. Frank Klees: I find it interesting that they have 
now been operating for an entire year, and these non-
conformances had been in place for a year. There were 
nine of them. Four were classified as moderate, two were 
classified as major and three were classified as critical. 
Those three critical classifications were related to flight 
crew training, and particularly in light of concerns that 
this committee has heard from witnesses over the last 
number of months that the issue of training was of ser-
ious concern and had actually been reported, according to 
testimony that we’ve had here, by pilots to Transport 
Canada and the management at Ornge—yet here we are. 
We’ve had this operation operating for an entire year. 
Now management says, “Well, we’ll take these people 
out of operation. We’ll suspend them. We’ll park them.” 

I have to tell you, I have serious concerns, and I think 
we all do, that we would have an organization that has 
the responsibility of 24/7 EMS air ambulance operations 
for our province, and here we find a Transport Canada 
audit that shows very gross non-conformance with either 
regulations or the operational manuals. 
0840 

I’d like to examine some of the specific findings of 
that Transport Canada report. I’d like to get your assess-
ment of the severity of these findings. I’ll read into the 
record the first one: 

“7506406 Canada Inc. was conducting a ‘Level D’ 
training program utilizing a Sikorsky SK76B-type full 
flight simulator. The SK76B-type helicopter has differ-
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ences in performance, systems, cockpit layout and con-
figuration compared to the air operator’s Sikorsky 
SK76A model helicopters. After completion of the full 
flight simulator SK76B training program, flight crews 
assigned to SK76A aircraft had received no additional 
training on the ‘differences’ between the SK76B (simula-
tor) and the SK76A model.” 

The finding report goes on to say, “Interviews with 
flight crew, the 7506406 Canada management team and 
document reviews confirmed that none of the SK76A-
type endorsed flight crews had received ‘differences’ 
training.” 

Mr. Waljee, I’m not a pilot and I don’t profess to 
know a whole lot about aircraft or what it takes to fly an 
aircraft. Is this as obvious as it appears: that flight crew 
were given simulator training in one model of aircraft, 
but they were asked to fly in a different model of aircraft 
where the Transport Canada report actually states that the 
performance is different, the systems are different, the 
cockpit layout is different and the configurations are 
different compared between the two, and yet they were 
given simulator training in one aircraft and expected to 
fly in another? Is that as obvious as it appears to me? 

Mr. Imi Waljee: I’d like to explain our process again, 
because when we do an inspection, whether it’s a PVI or 
an assessment, Transport Canada’s role is to identify 
non-conformances. Like we said, we do a systems-based 
approach into the organization, to see whether the system 
is functioning or not. The way we convey the results of 
our inspection to the enterprise is through a finding form 
to identify to the company where corrections need to be 
made. 

Our role is not to speculate or look at the correct direc-
tion for an organization. When a finding has been gener-
ated and given to the company, the company takes two 
steps. Number one, they do a short-term corrective fix to 
bring them back into compliance, and then the second 
step they do is a long-term corrective action to ensure 
that the non-conformance identified does not recur again. 
The onus is on the enterprise to rectify the non-conform-
ances that have been identified by Transport Canada. 

Our desire, when we issue a PVI report, is to work 
with the enterprise in an escalation process. What that 
means is that our desire is that, where a company is will-
ing and able to make corrections of its own, implement 
the correct new actions and ensure that those non-
conformances don’t recur, we work at the level of a 
corrective action plan. The company will submit to us a 
corrective action plan to say, “This is what we did in the 
short term. This is our analysis of the finding and of the 
root cause, and this is how we are going to be fixing it in 
the long term so that it does not recur.” 

We go back and do a follow-up on the enterprise to 
make sure that the long-term corrective action is effective 
in fixing those non-conformances. Then we close off the 
PVI report. 

Mr. Frank Klees: So let me ask you this: Whose re-
sponsibility within the Ornge organization would it have 
been to ensure that the appropriate training programs 

were in place? What is the position within the Ornge or-
ganization that had the responsibility to ensure that these 
programs were in place? 

Mr. Yves Lemieux: The operations manager. 
Mr. Frank Klees: And who at Ornge is that? 
Mr. Yves Lemieux: At the time, I don’t know. I don’t 

have— 
Mr. Frank Klees: You don’t know? 
Mr. Imi Waljee: I’m not 100% sure as to who— 
Mr. Yves Lemieux: We can get back to you, if you 

wish. 
Mr. Frank Klees: The fact is that someone wasn’t 

doing their job at Ornge. What’s concerning for us is that 
given the track record of this organization—quite frankly, 
I’m not surprised. The reason I’m not surprised is that I 
highly question how this organization was given its 
initial operating certificate when it went into business. To 
the point that you made in your opening statement, in 
explanation of the role that Transport Canada has and in 
terms of the measurement, the risk profile, here is an or-
ganization that has never been in the business of 
operating a helicopter or a 24/7 aviation business before. 
Overnight, they were in the business. Quite frankly, our 
initial question is, on what basis could these people be 
qualified? 

I want to move on to another finding that is equally as 
disturbing as the one that we just dealt with. Again— 

The Chair (Mr. Norm Miller): You have about three 
minutes, depending on how— 

Mr. Frank Klees: Well, I’ll quickly deal with this, 
and if you wouldn’t mind, I’ll take an extra five minutes 
of my first 20. 

Again, it deals with the training issue. I’m quoting 
from the actual report: “The following are examples of 
flight crews who had not received required training—
flight crews are identified by their pilot licence num-
bers.” It goes through one, two, three, four, five, six—the 
last one, number six, gives me particularly great concern. 
It reads as follows: “controlled flight into terrain 
avoidance”—and it lists one, two, three, four pilots. 

There was a May 31 crash of an Ornge helicopter. 
There’s lots of speculation—we won’t speculate in terms 
of what the causes were for that. But one of the things 
that I’ve heard from pilots, from front-line people at 
Ornge, is that there was great concern about the lack of 
training. Even though there were experienced pilots, what 
I’m told is that there was very little up-training that was 
taking place within the organization. This finding is 
particularly concerning. Again, we have to keep in mind, 
Ornge now has been operating for more than a year, and 
to have this kind of gap in training for pilots—this is not 
Dr. Mazza now; this is after the transition of management 
took place. This is after the new executives were put in 
place. This is after we have a new operations manager, a 
new accountable executive in place—and we have the 
findings of Transport Canada that fundamental training 
for pilots had not been put in place. That’s very discon-
certing for us. 

I understand your explanation of SMS, and I under-
stand that a system has now been put in place, where 
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you’re counting on the co-operation of the air operators 
to actually make this inspection program work—isn’t that 
correct? 

Mr. Imi Waljee: No, what we are saying is that the 
responsibility and the accountability to meet regulatory 
compliance and to remain in regulatory compliance on an 
ongoing basis is the responsibility of the enterprise. 

Mr. Frank Klees: That’s right, and what we have 
here is clearly an enterprise that doesn’t have the compe-
tency, does not understand the implications of not being 
in compliance and is putting people at risk. 

My question to you as Transport Canada—we look to 
you as the oversight body to ensure compliance. My con-
cern, quite frankly, is whether or not under the current 
SMS that we have—if there’s far too much reliance on 
the operators themselves and if there isn’t a gap here that 
should be filled in by Transport Canada to be much more 
proactive. I’ll follow up on that in my follow-up ques-
tions, but I’d like your thoughts just very briefly on that 
principle of the role of Transport Canada. I know it was a 
government decision to basically bring in much more 
responsibility on the part of the operators, but at this 
point, I’m questioning the wisdom of that. 
0850 

Mr. Imi Waljee: Okay, so in your speech just now, 
you had really two questions that I see for me. One was 
how did we approve 7506406 Canada Inc. in the first 
place— 

Mr. Frank Klees: Yes. 
Mr. Imi Waljee: —and the SMS question. 
I’ll start with how we approved it. The regulations, 

under air operators, say the minister shall issue an oper-
ator certificate when an enterprise meets certain condi-
tions. The obligation is on the minister to issue the 
certificate when somebody demonstrates to us that they 
have the capability and they meet the regulatory require-
ments— 

Mr. Frank Klees: I’m sorry to interrupt, but this is 
very important. Are you telling me that at the time that 
you issued the certificate, all of these issues—they were 
in compliance at that time? 

Mr. Imi Waljee: Exactly. 
Mr. Frank Klees: So from the time that they went 

into business, under the current Ornge management, they 
went out of compliance. Somehow they had these training 
programs in place and, within a 12-month period, every-
thing went into the basket. Is that what you’re saying? 

Mr. Imi Waljee: What we are saying is that at the 
time of issuance of the certificate, they met the require-
ments. We ensured that there were training programs in 
place, that they had a qualified crew, that they had main-
tenance requirements for their aircraft and that they had a 
maintenance control system for their maintenance re-
quirements. They met all those requirements, and that’s 
when we issued them a certificate to say, “Yes, you do 
meet the minimum requirements.” 

Mr. Frank Klees: Okay, so one other question if I 
might. There was a transition from Canadian Helicopters 
to Ornge management, to Ornge. When you did your 

initial assessment, had the transition from Canadian 
Helicopters to Ornge taken place? Or were you basing 
your certification on the expertise, the training programs 
and all that involved the operations—were you basing 
that on the then Canadian Helicopters management? 

Mr. Imi Waljee: No. So what happens is, whenever 
an enterprise comes to us and applies for an operator 
certificate, they have to present to us their manuals and 
their training program. Everything has to be under the 
control of the air operator. In this case, it’s 7506406 Can-
ada Inc. It has got nothing to do with Canadian Helicop-
ters. This enterprise has to present to us how they’re 
going to be running their business, how they’re going to 
be training their crew and how they’re going to be main-
taining their aircraft. Then we issue the certificate. It is 
looking at that one particular company. 

Mr. Frank Klees: How would Ornge have developed 
those manuals within the very limited space of time? 
Isn’t it reasonable to assume that what they did was 
transfer or deliver to you or show you the manuals that 
were, in fact, Canadian Helicopters’ manuals, and put 
their name on it without having the competency to actual-
ly deliver under those standards? Is that a possibility? 

Mr. Imi Waljee: That would be speculation on my 
part, sir. We approve a manual which is presented to us 
by the enterprise, signed off by the accountable execu-
tive. That is what we get in our offices, and this is what 
our inspectors work with. 

Mr. Frank Klees: And within 12 months, the ac-
countable executive got a letter from Transport Canada 
saying, “You are out of compliance” with very critical 
aspects of the operations. 

Mr. Imi Waljee: Yes, and that’s the reason why we 
do inspections: to ensure that the company maintains 
regulatory compliance. When we talked about the risk 
profile, I mentioned to you that, because it’s a new oper-
ation, we don’t know a lot about it, how it is going to be 
functioning. So we go in there within a year to see what 
the health of the company is. When we do find non-
conformances, we do identify them, and then the onus is 
on the enterprise to rectify them. 

Mr. Frank Klees: Thank you very much. 
The Chair (Mr. Norm Miller): Thank you. Mr. 

Klees used about 25 minutes, so we’ll start with that for 
the NDP. Mr. Singh? 

Mr. Jagmeet Singh: Chair, thank you very much. 
Good morning. Thank you for being here today. I just 

want to touch on some of the points that you just raised 
about—you had indicated that there’s a minimum stan-
dard that a company or enterprise has to achieve before 
they receive a certification. Is that correct? 

Mr. Imi Waljee: Correct. 
Mr. Jagmeet Singh: Are there different levels? That’s 

the minimum standard. But if a company has surpassed 
the minimum standard, do you assign a certain level to 
that, that this company is in an excellent condition, or 
that their manuals and their safety protocols—“In the 
inspection that we’ve done, we’ve assessed them at a 
higher or a lower”—or do you just have a minimum that 
they need to achieve? 
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Mr. Imi Waljee: Okay. Sorry, I forgot to answer the 
second question for Mr. Klees when he asked about 
SMS. I just want to clarify that 7506406 Canada Inc. 
does not come under the SMS regulations because it is 
not under a part 5 operation. So SMS rules do not apply 
to Ornge at this particular time. 

The Chair (Mr. Norm Miller): Thank you for that 
clarification. 

Mr. Imi Waljee: Going back to your question: When 
I say “minimum requirements,” in order to be issued a 
certificate of operation, when the company presents to us, 
we ensure that they meet the minimum requirements, 
which say you must have a flight crew who’s trained and 
you have a maintenance program in place. 

Then as the company matures, and it starts working 
with its systems and processes in place, it might start 
using best practices from industry and do a little bit more 
than what the minimum requirements are. 

When we do our risk profiling that I talked about—we 
talked about the impact statement. This is where we take 
into consideration: Does the company have an SMS? Does 
the company have safety intelligence other than what is 
normally being presented? Are they using that safety 
intelligence in the right manner, to improve their oper-
ation? 

Then we give them a scoring which changes the 
schedule. Maybe if they have all these best practices, 
they might go to a five-year period instead of a one-year 
period or a two-year period. 

Mr. Jagmeet Singh: I see. 
Mr. Imi Waljee: That’s how we use this intelligence 

to set up our program schedule: When do we go and do 
an inspection on this company? 

Mr. Jagmeet Singh: Okay. Just to give a range, if a 
company is just meeting the minimum requirements, that 
means the risk profile that’s generated would require a 
yearly inspection? 

Mr. Imi Waljee: Not necessarily. It all depends upon 
the change of the company. Like I said, the risk profile 
sets up a baseline, and as the company is undergoing 
change—let’s say they add more aircraft; maybe they add 
extra sub-bases; maybe they start doing an international 
operation—then it changes the state of that organization, 
and then it would change the risk number. Then, de-
pending upon where it sits in the risk matrix is whether 
we would go in there at a one-year period or a two-year 
period. 

Mr. Jagmeet Singh: Okay. What is the minimum 
timeline that you’ll go back into a company? I’m assum-
ing it’s a one-year period. Could it be less than that? Six 
months? 

Mr. Imi Waljee: Yes. That’s a very good question. In 
my opening, I explained to you there is planned surveil-
lance and unplanned surveillance. Planned surveillance 
is—we have in Ontario approximately, let’s say, just for 
illustration purposes, 300 enterprises. When we do our 
surveillance planning, over the five-year period, we look 
at these 300 enterprises and say, “Where do they fit in 
this matrix?” to work out when we’re going to pay them 

a visit for our inspection purposes. The planned surveil-
lance is between one and five years. 

Now, in your question, you said, “Can you go in 
sooner?” Sure we can. When we get any intelligence that 
there is something going on with this enterprise, or we 
see some incidents occur, we go into what we call un-
planned surveillance. Then we can go in there and do an 
inspection, based upon what we have uncovered. So, yes, 
it can be under a one-year period. Absolutely. 

Mr. Jagmeet Singh: Okay. You talked about intel-
ligence or incidents. An incident would be, I’m assum-
ing, if there was a serious crash or some sort of accident 
that occurred. That would be considered an incident, and 
that would prompt, perhaps, another inspection? 

Mr. Imi Waljee: Sure. It could be a hard landing or 
any other incident, besides a crash. It could be any kind 
of incident. 

Also, we get the civil aviation daily occurrence re-
ports, or CADORs. These are also good triggers for us. If 
there is a CADOR that has been raised that we feel re-
quires our intervention, and we want to go in and inspect 
the company, based upon the CADOR, we can go in there 
and look at that. These are the triggers that will make us 
go in there sooner than the planned surveillance cycle. 
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Mr. Jagmeet Singh: And a CADOR is like a daily 
report that you receive? 

Mr. Imi Waljee: Correct. Maybe Yves can expand on 
what the CADOR is. 

Mr. Jagmeet Singh: And what does it stand for? 
Mr. Yves Lemieux: Civil aviation daily occurrence 

report— 
Mr. Jagmeet Singh: Sorry? 
Mr. Yves Lemieux: It stands for civil aviation daily 

occurrence report. These are any incidents that Nav Can-
ada would see— 

The Chair (Mr. Norm Miller): Excuse me. Can you 
speak a little bit into the microphone? Not too close—but 
just for the benefit of Hansard, please. 

Mr. Yves Lemieux: Okay. There are various cat-
egories. Some are relatively minor, and then others re-
quire us to follow up on the incident. That’s when we 
contact the company, and then we look at the process that 
could have been involved in the incident itself. Then we 
look at the investigation that the company carried out, the 
issues that they’ve identified, whatever they are, that they 
need to correct to make sure that it doesn’t reoccur. 
That’s basically it. Then we follow up on that and we 
keep track. 

These incidents, also, are looked at again when we do 
PVIs, and then, also, they may impact on a risk profile of 
the company if, for example, something reoccurs. 

Mr. Jagmeet Singh: I see. So the CADORs can im-
pact the risk assessment and, based on that, you might be 
more likely to have an earlier visit or an unplanned visit. 

Mr. Yves Lemieux: Absolutely. 
Mr. Jagmeet Singh: Okay. And then the intelligence 

you were talking about—is that something where you 
receive a complaint from someone saying that there’s a 
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problem here at this base or a problem with this 
enterprise? What is the intelligence? 

Mr. Imi Waljee: It can be. Many times, we have our 
civil aviation issues reporting system, CAIRS, which is a 
confidential system where people can go in, they can be 
anonymous, and they can identify some issues with any 
companies or personnel. Then we are bound to do some 
kind of a review on that CAIR to see, is it valid? Is there 
any substance behind what has been reported in there? 
We do investigate that. 

Mr. Jagmeet Singh: Sorry, what was the name of this 
anonymous line again? 

Mr. Imi Waljee: It’s the civil aviation issues re-
porting system, CAIRS. It’s an online system. 

Mr. Jagmeet Singh: Civilian— 
Mr. Imi Waljee: Civil aviation issues reporting 

system. 
Mr. Jagmeet Singh: Civil aviation— 
Mr. Imi Waljee: —issues— 
Mr. Jagmeet Singh: —issues— 
Mr. Imi Waljee: —reporting system. 
Mr. Jagmeet Singh: —reporting system. Okay. 

That’s good. And is this a number that anyone—for ex-
ample, any civilian or anyone who works in the com-
pany, anyone can use that? 

Mr. Imi Waljee: Anybody. It’s open to the public. 
They can file a report in there. 

Mr. Jagmeet Singh: Okay. And it’s completely an-
onymous? 

Mr. Imi Waljee: You can be anonymous or, if you 
want a response, you can say, “I would like a response,” 
and you can give your information. Then once we had 
looked into what the issue was, we would forward a 
response to the person to say, “Okay, this is the result of 
what we did.” 

Mr. Jagmeet Singh: Okay. Now, my other concern: 
Is there a relationship between what you do at Transport 
Canada—providing oversight for aviation, which is a 
very important responsibility, and I appreciate that you’re 
doing that. Is there a relationship between Transport 
Canada, which is a federal entity, and—is there any re-
porting obligation to the provincial government? Because 
there’s an overlap—this is a provincial entity that’s 
providing a provincial service, but because they’re avi-
ation, there’s a federal jurisdiction. Is there any sort of 
reporting requirement between the federal government 
and the provincial government, or does the provincial 
government have any access to these, whether it’s the 
risk assessment or the compliance? Is there any sort of 
interplay between the two? 

Mr. Imi Waljee: I don’t believe so. 
Mr. Yves Lemieux: No, no. No, there isn’t. The 

safety of operations is 100% the responsibility of the fed-
eral government. We make sure that what we approve—
and then, through our surveillance program, confirm that 
a company continues to be compliant. 

Just a little bit of clarification on the statement that the 
regulations are in place—and we say “minimum require-
ment”: That requirement is based on historical perform-

ance, i.e., we could go for the Cadillac, which would be 
just out of this world. However, we put in a floor as to 
where an operation needs to be in order to be safe. That’s 
how we define the regulatory requirement—the stan-
dards, for example—and that’s how these are established. 

It’s not unique to Canada; it’s worldwide. ICAO, the 
International Civil Aviation Organization, sets those 
limits. Some people may be nervous about a minimum 
requirement. Actually, at minimum, we believe that it is a 
safe operation. Historically, it has been. If you’re compli-
ant at the minimum requirement, you’re safe. 

Mr. Jagmeet Singh: Okay. That’s good to know. So 
the minimums are not the bare bones— 

Mr. Yves Lemieux: Absolutely not. 
Mr. Jagmeet Singh: That’s good to know. If you’re 

able to—and if you can’t, just let me know. Before 
Ontario had Ornge, there was the Ontario Air Ambu-
lance. Are you familiar with the Ontario Air Ambulance 
and what their compliance was with respect to Transport 
Canada and whether there were any compliance issues? 

Mr. Imi Waljee: I’m sorry. I don’t understand your 
question. 

Mr. Jagmeet Singh: Sorry. We’re speaking of the 
compliance issues. Between January 9 and January 24, 
you conducted a PVI on Ornge specifically and you 
identified some issues with Ornge. Before that, Ornge 
had received a certificate that they met the standards. 
Subsequently, when you did a PVI, you had identified 
some areas of concern regarding training, record-keeping 
and various other issues. 

Previous to the existence of Ornge, which is an entity 
that provides ambulance service in Ontario—previous to 
Ornge, there was an entity doing the same service, pro-
viding the same service. It was known as Ontario Air 
Ambulance. Are you familiar with that organization and 
what their compliance was? 

Mr. Imi Waljee: We approve air operators on an 
individual basis; right? So when an enterprise comes to 
us and they want an air operating certificate, we look at it 
as an entity, as a stand-alone. The service they provide is 
whatever they—is it passenger-carrying? Is it air ambu-
lance? Is it aerial work? Their operation is subsidiary. As 
long as they meet our regulatory requirements to be 
issued with a certificate, we will issue them a certificate. 

Mr. Jagmeet Singh: I understand. I’m trying to ask 
you a question about another entity that existed before 
Ornge, and if you had any records in terms of their com-
pliance and what standard they were achieving and 
whether there were compliance issues like training issues 
or record-keeping issues in that previous entity, but I 
don’t think you have that information before you. 

Mr. Imi Waljee: No. 
Mr. Jagmeet Singh: That’s fine. Okay. Moving for-

ward, what type of relationship do you have with Ornge? 
Where does it sit in the risk matrix, and what is your 
anticipation for future PVIs or inspections, planned or 
unplanned? What’s your expectation? 

Mr. Imi Waljee: At this present time, Ornge is 
putting its long-term corrective action plan into place. 
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What we will be doing is, we will be conducting follow-
up to make sure that the long-term corrective action that 
Ornge has provided to us is being implemented and is 
being effective. Then, when we do this follow-up 
inspection, we will go and update our risk profile to see 
where it comes up. 

So every time there is any change in an organization is 
when we go in there and update our system. As I said, 
that system is based upon measuring change and how the 
company is coping with the change. 

Mr. Jagmeet Singh: Okay. And given the fact that 
your PVI came back with non-compliance or issues 
around those topics we’ve discussed, I’m assuming that 
that has resulted in a risk assessment that’s lower now 
or—there’s more risk associated, so it’s going to be a 
target, versus another company that had no compliance 
issues which would be maybe less of an issue and they 
might have a longer duration between their inspections. 
Is that a fair— 

Mr. Imi Waljee: Yes. It’s possible. Like I said, when 
we go and do our follow-up, we might find that the com-
pany has got good systems in place and they have good, 
robust processes in place and they’re effective. Then, 
when our inspectors go back and update our question-
naire, we’ll see where they fall into the risk matrix. 

Mr. Jagmeet Singh: At this point in time, you 
indicated that they’re putting together a long-term plan, 
and you’ll assess that once that long-term plan is put 
together. It has not been presented to you yet, I’m 
assuming; is that correct? 

Mr. Imi Waljee: No. The long-term plan has been 
presented to us because we have accepted the corrective 
action plan. They are now in the process of implementing 
it. So we would like to give them some time to imple-
ment it, to make sure it’s effective, before we go in and 
check it. There’s no point looking at it right away be-
cause they haven’t had a chance to work at it. So we want 
to allow them to work at their plan, and then we go in 
there and inspect to make sure that it is effective. 
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Mr. Jagmeet Singh: What was the corrective action, 
if you could just outline that again? And how satisfied 
are you with that corrective action at this point—the 
immediate corrective action? 

Mr. Imi Waljee: Well, the immediate corrective ac-
tion is, like Mr. Frank Klees talked about from the report, 
the company said, “We are not going to be allowing our 
pilots to fly unless they get the training.” That was their 
immediate short-term fix. The long-term is, they’re 
putting a system in place to make sure that this issue does 
not recur again. They presented us with a corrective 
action plan to say what systems they’re going to be 
changing, how they’re going to be implementing it and 
the timelines under which they will implement it. We ac-
cepted their plan, and now we will go back and begin the 
process of evaluating some of the long-term corrective 
actions. 

Mr. Jagmeet Singh: If you were able to compare, just 
on a broad level, the way Ornge, or the numbered com-

pany that you’ve given, has handled this situation com-
pared to other companies, are you satisfied with the way 
they handled it or the manner in which they responded to 
your concerns? 

Mr. Imi Waljee: When we look at the approach, we 
don’t compare a company to a company. We look at an 
enterprise. How did this enterprise deal with it? Are they 
willing and able to deal with the situation? Are they im-
plementing the corrective actions? We look at it on an 
individual basis. We go in and inspect and say, “Okay, 
you told us that you were going to implement a certain 
action. Did you implement it? Is it effective?” 

Mr. Jagmeet Singh: Did you get any heads-up or any 
intelligence prior to your PVI that there were pilots and 
staff who were concerned about the safety of the night 
flights or the safety of the flying in general at Ornge? 

Mr. Imi Waljee: I am not aware of that. I can look 
into our records and get back to you, but at this time, I 
am sorry; I don’t have that information. 

Mr. Jagmeet Singh: Sure. I noticed, Mr. Lemieux, 
you were also shaking your head in the negative. You 
weren’t aware of any intelligence prior? 

Mr. Yves Lemieux: No. 
Mr. Jagmeet Singh: No, okay. 
Beyond the PVI and beyond the now-anticipated long-

term strategy that will be presented to you in more detail, 
are there any day-to-day interactions between yourself 
and Ornge? I guess there’s the CAIRS reports that you 
receive. Do you receive those daily? 

Mr. Imi Waljee: No. I gave an example of intelli-
gence because you asked me the question of what were 
the types of intelligence we can get, and CAIRS is one 
methodology under which we get intelligence. 

Mr. Jagmeet Singh: I see. 
Mr. Imi Waljee: We interact with the company on a 

regular basis because we are doing follow-up actions 
with the company. They submit a manual for amendment 
because, as they are implementing the corrective action 
plan, they’re changing the processes and procedures, so 
they submit amendments to their manual for our approv-
al. 

Mr. Jagmeet Singh: Okay. So at this time, can you 
describe the regular interactions between yourself and 
Ornge, and who is it that you’re interacting with? 

Mr. Imi Waljee: We have principal inspectors who 
are responsible for Ornge. We have a flight operations 
inspector who looks after the flight operations aspects of 
the organization. We have an air-worthiness inspector 
who looks after all the maintenance requirements of the 
company. Between the two of them, they manage the 
day-to-day operations of the company. They are inter-
acting directly with key personnel. For example, the air-
worthiness inspector would be interacting with the 
personnel responsible for the maintenance control 
system— 

Mr. Jagmeet Singh: At Ornge. 
Mr. Imi Waljee: At Ornge. The flight ops inspector 

would be interacting with the chief pilot and the ops 
manager. 
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Mr. Jagmeet Singh: Okay. In terms of a schedule of 
how regular that is, it would be the inspectors themselves 
that would be able to give that information about how 
often or how regular their interactions are? 

Mr. Imi Waljee: Correct. It depends upon the submis-
sions from the company, how often they make them, 
what their queries are, what information they are looking 
for. It will depend on that. 

Mr. Jagmeet Singh: Just a quick moment’s indul-
gence: How much time do I have left? 

The Chair (Mr. Norm Miller): You have six min-
utes. 

Mr. Jagmeet Singh: I’ll take it on the next round. 
The Chair (Mr. Norm Miller): Okay, very good. 

We’ll move to the government. Mr. Mauro. 
Mr. Bill Mauro: Thank you, Mr. Chair. Gentlemen, 

good morning. Thank you for being here today. We ap-
preciate your attendance. 

I noted in your opening remarks that the two of you 
share responsibility for Ontario; one is east, and one is 
west, so at least one of you has some familiarity with 
Thunder Bay, I’m sure. That’s my riding, and this issue 
of air ambulance services, of course, in northern Ontario 
is extremely top of mind for people, certainly in my neck 
of the woods, but obviously for the entire province. 
Which of you is it who has the western— 

Interjection. 
Mr. Bill Mauro: That would be you. Okay. I’ve got a 

series of questions. But first, I wanted to ask again about 
the frequency of your visits. I heard you give a response 
earlier. But I also want you to let me know if any of your 
visits are unannounced or if they are all scheduled. 

Mr. Imi Waljee: Okay. We have two methodologies 
of surveillance. We talked about planned and unplanned. 
Our unannounced visits are unplanned activities which 
would be driven by a trigger. It could be from CADORS, 
which is a civil aviation daily occurrence report, or it 
could be some intelligence that somebody has given us 
saying, “There are some issues with this operator. We 
want to have Transport Canada look at it.” We can do 
that. But normally, out of courtesy, we would call the 
operators and say, “We are coming in today to look at 
your records,” so that they can prepare the records for us. 

Mr. Bill Mauro: Okay. So the frequency of visits—
somebody asked you earlier about frequency. I’m thinking 
it was one to four— 

Mr. Imi Waljee: One to five years, that’s the planned 
surveillance. 

Mr. Bill Mauro: That’s kind of where I’m going. On 
the frequency, when you responded to that question, 
those were planned visits? 

Mr. Imi Waljee: Yes. 
Mr. Bill Mauro: But the unannounced visits that can 

be triggered by reasons that you’ve just explained to us 
would be in addition? 

Mr. Imi Waljee: Yes, correct. 
Mr. Bill Mauro: And those could be anywhere from 

none to a number, depending on the quality of the carrier 

or information that you gather through a variety of 
means. 

Mr. Imi Waljee: Correct. 
Mr. Bill Mauro: What are some of the ways that you 

would receive information that would trigger an unan-
nounced visit? 

Mr. Imi Waljee: We get quite a few through our Civil 
Aviation Issues Reporting System. Another way is that a 
person might call one of the principal inspectors or 
maybe one of our technical team leads who’s a super-
visor of a particular Transport Canada centre; for ex-
ample, Thunder Bay. Or somebody might call our issues 
managers, or they might put in a comm request from 
headquarters. There are multiple ways where information 
can be given to Transport Canada. 

Mr. Bill Mauro: Do you have any sense of how many 
unannounced visits were made to Ornge and its bases? 

Mr. Imi Waljee: No, I don’t have that. 
Mr. Bill Mauro: I want to just step back a little bit 

before going forward with the questions as to the begin-
ning of Ornge. You identified, in your opening remarks, 
three companies, I think: one fixed-wing, one mainten-
ance or refurbishment, and then the third one, the rotary. 
To be clear, before Ornge began their operation, from 
Transport Canada’s perspective, all three of those differ-
ent business lines were in compliance, according to 
Transport Canada? 

Mr. Imi Waljee: Correct, the three companies that we 
talked about. 

Mr. Bill Mauro: Sorry? 
Mr. Imi Waljee: The three companies that we talked 

about. 
Mr. Bill Mauro: So they were all inspected. That’s a 

normal course of procedure— 
Mr. Imi Waljee: Correct. 
Mr. Bill Mauro:—when a new operation is starting. 

You show up, you inspect, and you do your work. They 
don’t get to go lift off the ground before you’ve been 
there. 

Mr. Imi Waljee: Correct. 
Mr. Bill Mauro: That happened with all three of 

those business lines. Once Ornge took over from CHC, 
this occurred. Transport Canada was there on all three 
business lines and inspected them. You have records that 
would prove and indicate you were there, inspections 
occurred, and everything was fine. 

Mr. Imi Waljee: So just for clarity, Ornge Global Air 
Inc., which was the fixed-wing, was approved in 2009. 
Then the approved maintenance organization under 
Ornge Global Air Inc., which was Ornge Global Tech-
nical Services—that’s their trade name—was approved in 
August 2011. Then 7506406 Canada Inc. was approved 
in January 2012. 

Mr. Bill Mauro: When did Ornge begin its oper-
ations? Those companies you just described, those are 
what you see as their start dates? 

Mr. Imi Waljee: Yes. 
Mr. Bill Mauro: There was a series of questions 

asked by the other members that I thought were good 
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questions that made me pause and consider a couple of 
things. When you, through Transport Canada, go in and 
do your PVI or whatever other methods of inspection, to 
confirm compliance; when you go in and you identify 
shortcomings—first of all, your processes are the same 
for all carriers, all kinds of carriers? There’s no distinc-
tion between an air ambulance and a commercial carrier, 
a charter carrier? 
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Mr. Imi Waljee: No. 
Mr. Bill Mauro: Everybody’s treated the same. Your 

PVIs, whatever it is you do—everybody’s treated the 
same? 

Mr. Imi Waljee: The inspection methodology is the 
same for everybody. 

Mr. Bill Mauro: Okay. The inspection methodology 
is the same for all carriers in Ontario, and it’s the same 
for all carriers in the rest of Canada? 

Mr. Imi Waljee: We have our policy document, our 
staff instruction, SUR-001. 

Mr. Bill Mauro: Right. 
Mr. Imi Waljee: We are under issue 5 right now, and 

all Transport Canada Civil Aviation inspectors con-
ducting surveillance activities had to do it by that policy 
document. 

Mr. Bill Mauro: That policy document applies across 
the country? 

Mr. Imi Waljee: Correct. 
Mr. Bill Mauro: Okay. The questions that were asked 

that indicated—I suppose it’s not unusual, although 
concerning for all of us, that you’re occasionally and 
from time to time going to find carriers non-compliant 
for some of their responsibilities. Your response was a 
little concerning for me—and I think probably for all of 
us, but that’s why I asked you the first questions about 
everybody’s treated the same—and indicated that when 
you find, through your work, areas of non-compliance, it 
sounds like it goes to an area of some sort of self-regula-
tion where, internally, the operator, the enterprise—in 
this case, Ornge—has the capacity, the responsibility, to 
continue operating while they are addressing the short-
comings identified by your investigation. Have I got that 
accurate? 

Mr. Imi Waljee: Yes. Again, to clarify, when we 
talked about a company responding to our findings, we 
talked about a short-term fix and a long-term fix, which 
is expected. In this particular instance, where they volun-
tarily grounded the crew to make sure they did not fly the 
next flight, this is the action that the company took. They 
mitigated the risk right away. 

Mr. Bill Mauro: Yes. 
Mr. Imi Waljee: The long-term fix is, they’re going 

to put a process in place to ensure that that does not recur 
again. That is what we are interested in, to see: Is that 
long-term fix effective? Is it working, so that this issue 
does not recur again? 

Mr. Bill Mauro: I want to look back to one of my 
first questions. When you have identified some non-
compliance, for whatever reasons, and then this other 

piece kicks in where the operator, or the enterprise, has 
the responsibility to fix, does it trigger the frequency, or 
the unannounced visits from you, more than normally 
would be the case? Once you’ve been there once and 
you’ve identified some concerns—and everybody’s the 
same; they self-regulate to some degree. I’m not sure 
that’s the best language for me to use— 

Mr. Imi Waljee: No, it’s not. 
Mr. Bill Mauro: It’s probably not. But they have to 

come into compliance— 
Mr. Imi Waljee: Exactly. 
Mr. Bill Mauro: —based upon your findings, and 

they have responsibility to do that. What does Transport 
Canada do, once you’ve identified them? Does your 
frequency of inspections stay the same? Are you more 
likely to visit that carrier more frequently on an unan-
nounced basis, on an announced basis? What happens 
once you’ve identified— 

Mr. Imi Waljee: We talked about the company’s 
willingness and ability to come up with a corrective 
action plan to ensure compliance, right? When we get 
their long-term timetable, which says, “At this time 
frame, we will be implementing certain processes, pro-
cedures,” we would go in there to make sure that they are 
on track with their timeline. And then, once they have 
implemented it fully, we would go back again and ensure 
that the full process is effective. 

It is not that we leave them hands-off. We do ensure 
that we are monitoring their timeline for compliance to 
the long-term fix. Then we would go back in there again 
and update our risk profiling and see where it falls in the 
matrix. Does it increase the frequency? Does it shorten 
the frequency? 

Anything else you want to add? 
Mr. Yves Lemieux: Just one thing: When a non-

compliance has been identified, and then they come up 
with a plan to correct it—first of all, I want to emphasize 
again that if, for example, there’s a deficiency in the 
training of a pilot, of a maintenance person, it has to be 
fixed immediately. The pilot cannot go flying until that’s 
fixed. So when the pilot goes flying, they are compliant. 

During the implementation of a corrective action plan, 
we will go in unannounced and then follow up and en-
sure that in fact it is progressing at the rate—because the 
corrective action plan also has a target date, and we will 
go at whatever frequency that the PIs, the principal 
inspectors, feel necessary to ensure that they are on track, 
that they are following up what they were saying that 
they were going to do, monitor whether it is effective. 
Then, ultimately, at the end of the period, we have a look 
at the whole system they have in place now to ensure that 
this original issue will not occur again, and basically, that 
closes it. 

If we have a concern, for whatever reason, we go into 
the database and put a flag on this item, and then it may 
or may not impact on the score, on the risk profile of the 
company. Again, it depends on the item. If it was admin-
istrative, i.e. training records were not being maintained 
properly—if we’re satisfied that the training took place; 
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however, the training record was out of date—well, this 
is a non-compliance, but from the safety point of view, 
there’s not. 

Mr. Bill Mauro: You’ve gone to the heart of where I 
wanted to follow up. So when you’ve identified non-
compliance, you are paying more attention to that par-
ticular enterprise? 

Mr. Yves Lemieux: Absolutely. 
Mr. Bill Mauro: There is obviously a degree of im-

portance—and I’m being careful with my language here 
because, again, as a non-professional, I’m not in any way 
wanting to convey that we understate the importance of 
this work—but there are factors that might be non-
compliant that of course would cause Transport Canada 
less concern than others. As you said in your response, if 
a pilot was identified as not having, as an example, an 
appropriate level of training, that’s not something that 
they would be able to—that shuts down immediately this 
person. Have you ever had that experience with Ornge? 

Mr. Imi Waljee: One of the reports that Mr. Klees 
just read out, for example, shows that. The company 
voluntarily stopped the crew from flying till they made 
sure they were trained, and then they were releasing them 
as they got trained. 

Mr. Bill Mauro: How did they get to that point? 
Mr. Yves Lemieux: You’ll have to ask them. 
Mr. Bill Mauro: We’ll have that opportunity this 

afternoon. 
Transport Canada has the authority to ground civil 

aviation operations; correct? 
Mr. Imi Waljee: Correct. 
Mr. Bill Mauro: Can you give me a sense of some of 

the circumstances that would lead to you grounding a 
carrier? 

Mr. Imi Waljee: I described to you that when we do 
an inspection, our desired response is to start with a 
corrective action plan—that is the first step—where the 
company is willing and able to comply. If the company is 
not willing and able and they are not really responding 
appropriately or correcting their non-conformances, we 
have the option of going to enforcement, where we can 
levy a fine through our designated provisions. The next 
step we can also do is issue a notice of suspension. A 
notice of suspension would have a trigger date which 
says that you must fix or you must comply and do certain 
actions for us to terminate the notice before it kicks in. If 
an enterprise does not meet the conditions for the termin-
ation of the notice of suspension, the notice of suspension 
would come into effect and then the carrier would be 
grounded. 

So we do have the tools to use, depending upon the 
severity and the situation at hand. 

Mr. Bill Mauro: Has Ornge ever been grounded? 
Mr. Imi Waljee: We have not issued a notice of 

suspension that I’m aware of to Ornge. 
Mr. Frank Klees: You have. 
Mr. Yves Lemieux: When they effectively grounded 

themselves until all pilots were—I believe there was a 
statement that read that they actually had stopped oper-

ations at various sites, for example. So that was voluntary 
on the part of the company, again until everything was in 
place and back into compliance. 
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Mr. Bill Mauro: Okay. They’re flying today. When 
was the last time your operations have inspected Ornge? 

Mr. Imi Waljee: We did a process inspection back in 
June of this year. The inspectors have been following up 
on the corrective action plan of the report that was done 
for the January program validation inspection. So they 
are in constant touch with Ornge and conducting inspec-
tions as they’re progressing through their fixes for the 
long-term corrective action. 

Mr. Bill Mauro: You have each been doing this work 
with Transport Canada for some time? 

Mr. Imi Waljee: Sorry? 
Mr. Bill Mauro: Five years, 10 years, 20 years? 
Mr. Imi Waljee: I’ve been with Transport Canada for 

17 years. 
Mr. Bill Mauro: Seventeen? 
Mr. Yves Lemieux: Longer— 
Mr. Bill Mauro: Longer than that? 
Mr. Yves Lemieux: Twenty-five years. 
Mr. Bill Mauro: I’m just trying to get a sense of, 

through your experience of doing the work that you do, 
how you would compare, if you can for me, this operator 
with previous operators in terms of non-compliance. I 
don’t know if you’re able to do that. I would think you 
might be able to give us some indication of—I’m not 
looking for you to tell me that one is better than the other, 
but it’s not unusual to find areas of non-compliance with 
any carrier, I would expect. Can you give me some sense 
of that historically—I guess I’m saying, pre-Ornge, post-
Ornge? 

Mr. Imi Waljee: It’s very difficult to compare oper-
ation to operation because each operation is unique in 
how they run their operation and the processes and 
systems they use for their particular operation. Our 
interest is to ensure if the company is compliant with the 
regulations or not when we do the inspections, and if a 
company is in regulatory compliance, then their operat-
ing certificate is still valid. When a company is sus-
pended due to a lot of non-compliances, then we would 
suspend a certificate, but as long as the company has a 
valid operating certificate, they’re in compliance with the 
regulations. 

Mr. Bill Mauro: How much time do I have, Mr. 
Chair? 

The Chair (Mr. Norm Miller): Seven minutes. 
Mr. Bill Mauro: I’m going to leave a little bit of time, 

but I will ask one more question. I just want to circle 
back to a previous question in terms of—if you can give 
me a bit of a timeline. Once you have identified non-
compliance—and those items, of course, have varying 
degrees of importance—can you give me a sense of 
Transport Canada’s timeline associated with your follow-
up once you’ve been onsite and identified those areas of 
non-compliance? 
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Mr. Imi Waljee: When a company has got major non-
compliances identified, our expectation is that their 
corrective action plan is going to be more robust, is going 
to be more detailed than an administrative one like the 
one Yves gave, for example, for missing training records. 
Because the corrective action plan is going to be more 
detailed, our follow-up would be matching the same way 
because we want to make sure that those major non-
compliances are addressed in an appropriate manner. So 
our follow-up would be more stringent, would be more 
hands-on. We would be paying a lot more attention to 
those specific findings than the administrative types of 
findings. 

Mr. Bill Mauro: My last question for now would be 
this: If you found yourselves, as Transport Canada, 
visiting a base and found non-compliant issues serious 
enough that you felt Transport Canada needed to ground 
the carrier, and given that the carrier is providing air 
ambulance services in Ontario, what, if anything, would 
you do to ensure—what’s the interface between you and 
the province through the Ornge board to ensure you 
wouldn’t see a gap in services if you showed up and felt 
you had to shut down a carrier? 

Mr. Imi Waljee: Our responsibility is with the air 
operating certificate— 

Mr. Bill Mauro: Right. 
Mr. Imi Waljee: —and the carrier by itself: Is it in 

compliance with the regulations or not? If there are non-
compliances identified, our first step would be to identify 
to the company— 

Mr. Bill Mauro: Your first step would be to? 
Mr. Imi Waljee: To identify to the company the non-

compliances, saying, “Look, this is what we are seeing. 
How are you going to deal with these non-compliances?” 
Depending upon the response we get—would be whether 
we take further action or not. And if it’s— 

Mr. Bill Mauro: I guess I’m asking you, if you did 
take further action and if that action was to ground the 
carrier, in this case a carrier that’s responsible for the 
provision of air ambulance, there would clearly be a 
service gap here for the people who are counting on that 
service. So I’m trying to get a sense of what your role is, 
if there is one, to ensure that the province has some—I’m 
just trying to connect those two dots. If there is a connec-
tion— 

Mr. Imi Waljee: We deal with an air operator certifi-
cate— 

Mr. Bill Mauro: Understood. That’s where I thought 
you were going. So to be clear, if you show up tomorrow 
at a base that does this work, you shut them down; that’s 
it. The province would be left to scramble to ensure that 
they could—would you make a phone call? Would you 
send a fax? Would you let the Ornge board know? No 
communication at all? You just say, “You’re non-compli-
ant. You’re done.” 

Mr. Imi Waljee: Let me explain to you about our 
notices of suspension and how they work. We have two 
methodologies for our notice of suspension. One is an 
immediate threat to aviation safety, which is an immedi-

ate thing. For example, that would be a situation—let’s 
say they’re ready to dispatch an aircraft, any air operator, 
and let’s say they’ve got icing on the wings. That is an 
immediate threat, so we say, “You’re suspended. Until 
you clean up the ice off your wings, you are suspended,” 
because the company wasn’t doing it willingly, right? 

The second notice of suspension that we issue has got 
a time trigger on it, which is based upon three elements 
of the Aeronautics Act. So under the act, it is for reasons 
of incompetence. The company does not meet the condi-
tions of issuance of the certificate that we issued to them 
back in 2012—or in the public interest, this company 
cannot operate. These are the three conditions under 
which we can issue a notice of suspension. 

When we do the notice of suspension under this part 
of the Aeronautics Act, we have a trigger date that says, 
“Here is a notice. We are going to give you a time frame 
of”—depending on the severity—“30 days, 15 days to 
meet the conditions for the termination of the notice.” 
The carrier or an AMO is not grounded at that particular 
time. They have that time period to meet the conditions 
to terminate the notice. 

Mr. Bill Mauro: Understood. 
Mr. Imi Waljee: When they don’t meet that, that’s 

when the notice takes effect. 
Mr. Bill Mauro: So perhaps for me, it will be a better 

question this afternoon for Mr. McCallum to see what 
processes Ornge has in place for them specifically, as 
well as for their SA carriers, to ensure that if something 
like this were to occur, there’s a plan in place that’s going 
to meet the gap that would be created by a grounding. 
Okay. 

Mr. Chair, thank you very much. How much time did 
we have left? 

The Chair (Mr. Norm Miller): Thank you very 
much. You’ll have about 11 minutes in your next round. 

We’ll go to Mr. Klees. You have 10 minutes. 
Mr. Frank Klees: Mr. Waljee, I appreciate the infor-

mation that you’re providing to us. I do have one con-
cern, though. I’m getting conflicting information, and 
we’re not here to whitewash things, right? I’ve heard you 
repeatedly say that the shutdown of these bases, based on 
your report—when it was found that there was the gap in 
the training of the pilots, you repeatedly used the term 
that they “voluntarily suspended operations.” Mr. Lemieux 
confirmed, in response to Mr. Mauro’s questions, that if 
in fact there was a problem with the training of pilots, 
then they wouldn’t be allowed to fly. Which of you is 
telling us the factual truth here? 

Mr. Imi Waljee: What Mr. Lemieux is saying is the 
same thing. Once the company identifies that the pilots 
are not trained, they themselves voluntarily stop them 
from flying till they can train to fly. 

Mr. Frank Klees: No, no, no. I’m asking a ques-
tion—seriously, I don’t want to be spun here on this. The 
fact of the matter is, whether the company decided to 
suspend operations or not, is it not a case that Transport 
Canada would not allow that company to lift off? 

Mr. Lemieux, I’d ask you to confirm: If, in fact, in 
your inspection reports you find serious problems, as you 
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did here with Ornge, in the training of pilots, Transport 
Canada would, essentially, suspend operations. You 
wouldn’t let them fly. Is that correct or not? 
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Mr. Yves Lemieux: That is correct. 
Mr. Frank Klees: That is correct. 
Mr. Yves Lemieux: Actually, the grounding, or the 

halt, in operation took place on the day that we un-
covered—they didn’t wait for the March report to act. So 
when the company takes action to meet our satisfaction 
okay, basically these pilots will not get in a cockpit until 
we have completed all training and we’re satisfied with 
that. It is still on record that we uncovered this non-
compliance. It’s not that, all of a sudden, we say, “That’s 
fine. We’ll forget about that and that’s it.” 

Mr. Frank Klees: So I thank you for that, because it 
was very disconcerting. It’s not a matter of Ornge volun-
tarily stopping; it’s a matter of Ornge having no choice, 
based on the Transport Canada inspection. This is im-
portant. 

The reason I wanted to clarify that is that I don’t want 
to leave the impression that somehow—there are two 
concerns I have: One is that Transport Canada is kind of 
a nudger or a suggester of safety measures; and somehow 
that Ornge is so gracious in terms of its response that 
they voluntarily have suspended. Ornge had no choice, 
because they failed miserably in terms of training its 
pilots. Transport Canada stepped in and said, “You can-
not lift off with those pilots until you get your training in 
place.” Is that correct? 

Mr. Yves Lemieux: That is correct. 
Mr. Frank Klees: Thank you very much. 
I know, gentlemen, that you can’t speak to policy. I 

would like to ask this question, though: When was it that 
this self-policing policy was put in place under Transport 
Canada? Can you tell us when that transition to this self-
policing, this SMS program, took place? 

Mr. Imi Waljee: There is no self-policing. The re-
quirements for an SMS—again, Ornge is not an SMS 
company— 

Mr. Frank Klees: That’s not my question. 
Mr. Imi Waljee: SMS is a methodology for an enter-

prise to manage risks. 
Mr. Frank Klees: When did that policy get put in 

place? 
Mr. Imi Waljee: I believe it came out in 2006, or 

2005 is when for the— 
Mr. Yves Lemieux: The 705. 
Mr. Imi Waljee: —705 carriers and approved man-

aged organizations who performed work on— 
Mr. Frank Klees: Okay. Ornge may not be an SMS 

carrier. However, under the fixed-wing side of the Ornge 
operation, the carriers that Ornge contracts with are under 
SMS. 

Mr. Imi Waljee: These rules don’t apply to the 704 
carriers— 

Mr. Yves Lemieux: Or 703. 
Mr. Imi Waljee: —or 703. 

Mr. Frank Klees: We had testimony here last week 
from Mr. Paul Cox, who is contracted to Ornge as a 
carrier. He is clearly under Transport Canada SMS oper-
ations. 

I’m going to just quote you something. The reason I 
want to pursue this with you is that I have serious con-
cerns about what’s happening under that system. I’m 
going to read from our Hansard transcripts: 

“When was the last time that you had a Transport Can-
ada audit?” 

His response was, “Two years ago.” 
“What were the findings of that audit?” 
“I know we had quite a few findings.” 
My question back: “Can you give me an example of 

some of those findings?” 
I’m going to read this into the record, and I want you 

to tell me whether this response concerns you or not: “A 
lot of it was quality assurance, new stuff that was coming 
out, the quality assurance SMS. Transport Canada was 
very vague on whether they were actually ever going to 
implement SMS and stuff like that, so it was hard to get 
to know whether you were going to need to do it or not. 
It’s still kind of up in the air. We have SMS, but we don’t 
have SMS as per the other air operators like Air Canada 
and big companies. We do it in the same style, but it’s 
not the same.” 

Here’s an air carrier—someone who was contracted to 
provide air ambulance service to Ornge. He’s telling us 
that he’s under SMS. He’s telling us that he gets 
inspected by Transport Canada, but, somehow every-
thing’s up in the air; had lots of findings—not sure 
whether to take them seriously or not. How do you react 
to that? 

Mr. Imi Waljee: Let me speak a little bit about the 
SMS. We had an SMS transition period when the 705 
carriers were approved. The next phase of SMS imple-
mentation was with the airports. We had the group 1 air-
ports, like Pearson airport, Montreal, Vancouver. The 
next phase of SMS implementation was the group 2 air-
ports, and this is where the implementation period 
stopped. 

Transport is reviewing the SMS requirements right 
now and coming up with a plan as to when the rest of the 
certificates will require SMS. In your particular ex-
ample—and I’m guessing that this gentleman, Mr. Peter 
Cox, is a 704- or 703-type carrier? 

Mr. Frank Klees: Yes, it’s Mr. Paul Cox— 
Mr. Imi Waljee: Oh, Paul Cox? Sorry. 
Mr. Frank Klees:—and the name of the airline is 

Wabusk Air. 
Mr. Imi Waljee: Yes, so that’s probably a 703 air 

operator. SMS rules do not apply to them. 
Mr. Frank Klees: Why would Transport Canada then 

inspect it under SMS? 
Mr. Imi Waljee: No, we don’t—okay. There is— 
Mr. Frank Klees: Okay, let me just add one more 

thing to the record—and then if you could help me. I’m 
going to give you a quote. This is from a very large air 
operator in the province of Ontario. Here’s what he wrote 
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to me following last week’s testimony: “Audits, over-
sight and surveillance by Transport Canada has been 
reduced to the point that things are going backwards in 
the industry. Regulations are being broken and certain 
carriers make little effort to abide by the rules. Transport 
Canada comes in now to do an audit, and they don’t even 
look at the aircraft. They want to know the paperwork is 
good. The aircraft could be falling apart or not legally 
equipped to fly and they would never know.” 

Now I have to tell you, that concerns me. Does it con-
cern you? 

Mr. Imi Waljee: Okay. Let me clarify two things you 
brought up. Number one was about the SMS approach 
and the inspection. When you mentioned that quality 
assurance does not apply and it is coming—I just want to 
clarify that quality assurance is applicable for an im-
proved maintenance organization, and quality assurance 
is in place for an air operator’s maintenance require-
ments. 

Under the SMS rules, the next phase coming to the 
regulatory framework is quality assurance for the flight 
operations, but that has not yet been implemented. There 
are no regulatory requirements for a 705 air operator to 
have quality assurance. However, the maintenance aspect 
of the air operator, be it a 702, 703, 704 or 705—that rule 
is in place for quality assurance. 

Our approach to surveillance is a systems-based ap-
proach, as we mentioned before. In the audit world, we 
used to go and we would say, “Give me your stack of 
paperwork and I’m going to go through it to see where 
the non-conformances are, and I want to go and look at 
stuff.” The way we do our systems-based approach is that 
we do a review of the documentation of the air operator 
or enterprise. Then, the next step we do is we go and we 
do interviews with the people and we do sampling. What 
that tells us is that when we do the interviews, are the 
people responding to us, telling us what has been 
documented? Then, we do the sampling of end product, 
be it an aircraft inspection, be it a record inspection. Does 
the output of that system correlate to what the interview 
told us and what we read in the documentation? That 
establishes whether the system is effective or not. 

When we look at the documentation and we get a dif-
ferent response when we are conducting our interview, 
and when we look at the end product, we get a different 
response, that tells us that the system is broken. 

Mr. Frank Klees: So Mr. Waljee, here’s the prob-
lem— 

Mr. Norm Miller: Your last 30 seconds, Mr. Klees. 
Mr. Frank Klees: Here’s the problem: What we’re 

hearing from the front lines, people who are in the 
business, is that those hands-on inspections are not taking 
place. I guess my question to you—and I’ll leave you 
with this—is, who is inspecting the inspectors? If we’re 
not getting that kind of front-line response, we have 
serious concerns, and not just about Ornge. The big 
problem of Ornge was a lack of oversight on the part of 
the Ministry of Health, on the part of the board of 
directors at Ornge. Now, my concern is that there is a 

lack of oversight on the part of Transport Canada. That’s 
very, very concerning to us. 
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Mr. Imi Waljee: Can I respond to that? 
The Chair (Mr. Norm Miller): Sure, you can. We’ll 

move to the NDP, and if you want to start off by respond-
ing to that— 

Mr. Jagmeet Singh: I have no issue with you taking 
the time to respond. 

The Chair (Mr. Norm Miller): Thank you. We’ll 
move to the NDP. Go ahead. 

Mr. Imi Waljee: To clarify, I mentioned earlier on 
that we have issued a new version of our staff instruction 
001. Version 5 was issued back in August of this year. 
The reason why this document was issued was in re-
sponse to the Auditor General’s audit of Transport Can-
ada’s surveillance methodology. The Auditor General 
identified a few shortcomings in our system, like you 
have identified, and this new version of the staff instruc-
tion is there to respond to that. 

Part of the strengthening of our surveillance method-
ology is to have a very robust sampling plan in place. 
You are correct: There was a time period where inspect-
ors were not sampling to the degree that was required. 
They were looking at documentation, and they were 
conducting interviews, and sampling was not being done 
to the extent that the intention of the document was. This 
new version 5 has strengthened that process. The docu-
mentation that inspectors come back with has to demon-
strate that they did sample the end product. Be it an 
aircraft inspection, be it records or be it a component, 
there has to be some kind of a sampling to ensure that the 
output of the enterprise is meeting the regulatory require-
ments. We have taken care of that issue that you have 
identified. 

Then we have our headquarters, which is going to be 
doing a quality review to ensure that the inspectors are 
abiding by the staff instruction and are doing the sam-
pling as prescribed in our policy document. 

Mr. Frank Klees: My concern is that this email came 
today— 

The Chair (Mr. Norm Miller): Sorry, Mr. Klees. We 
have moved on to the NDP. 

Mr. Frank Klees: My colleague—would you— 
Interjection. 
Mr. Jagmeet Singh: I have no problem with you 

asking. 
Mr. Frank Klees: Thank you. 
Mr. Waljee, I hear what you’re saying. My concern is 

that this email that I shared with you today from a major 
air operator came today—today. This is what they’re ex-
periencing in the field today. So there may be a policy 
pronouncement, but it’s not being implemented, and, 
collectively, we have a concern. 

Mr. Imi Waljee: When was the inspection done at 
this carrier? If it was done prior to August of this year, 
the new staff instruction was not in place. 

Mr. Frank Klees: I’m happy to put you in touch. 
Mr. Imi Waljee: Okay. 
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Mr. Jagmeet Singh: The initial question from my 
colleague Mr. Klees was, who is inspecting the inspect-
ors? We have the Auditor General, at all levels of gov-
ernment, providing that extra oversight, which is very, 
very helpful. 

I think that’s an important point: that if this new 
instruction is going to ensure that the sampling is done in 
a more robust fashion so that there are eyes on actual, 
tangible assets, making sure that the aircraft are them-
selves inspected—I think that makes sense, and it’s 
reassuring to hear that. 

In terms of how an inspection is done, do you have a 
number of inspectors assigned per province, or is it a 
number of inspectors nationally and they all go to assign-
ments as needed? Is there a certain number per province? 

Mr. Imi Waljee: The way we are structured at Trans-
port Canada Civil Aviation is, we have Transport Canada 
centres—I’ll speak for Ontario. In Ontario, like we’ve 
mentioned, we have east and west. In the west, I am 
responsible for the Thunder Bay Transport Canada 
Centre, the Hamilton Transport Canada Centre and Pear-
son. Yves is responsible for Sudbury, Ottawa, Buttonville 
and our aircraft certification folks at 4900 Yonge Street. 

Within these Transport Canada centres, we have 
multidisciplinary teams. These consist of: air-worthiness 
inspectors, who look after the maintenance of an aircraft; 
flight operations inspectors, who look after the flight 
operations portion of the aircraft; cabin-safety and 
dangerous-goods inspectors. So when we do our surveil-
lance planning, we go in there with the approach of a 
multidisciplinary team. Depending upon the size and 
complexity of the organization, we will send anywhere 
from two inspectors to five, six, seven or more, de-
pending upon if we are doing a program-validation 
inspection; if we are doing an SMS assessment; how big 
this organization is; and how many bases it has got. The 
number of inspectors assigned would vary. 

The inspectors would come from the TCC they’re 
responsible for, the geographical area. For example, we 
talked about Wabusk Air. The Thunder Bay Transport 
Canada Centre inspectors would be primarily assigned to 
do the surveillance activity. 

Sometimes we have a shortage of inspectors because 
of the scheduling. Then we would supplement it from 
other inspectors from our other Transport Canada 
centres, to help them conduct that surveillance activity. 

Mr. Jagmeet Singh: Okay. What would the smallest 
team be, on average, and what would the largest team be? 

Mr. Imi Waljee: Two. 
Mr. Jagmeet Singh: Two is the smallest? 
Mr. Imi Waljee: We always send a multidisciplinary 

team. So if you hold an air-operating certificate, you have 
a maintenance component to that air-operating certificate 
and you have a flight-operations component. We send an 
inspector for each of those disciplines. 

Mr. Jagmeet Singh: Okay. I’m just going to turn 
your attention to the Transport Canada report that we’ve 
been referring to. The reference number ends in 17. On 
the second page, there are finding numbers, and we’ve 

listed them. There are nine findings: three “critical,” two 
“major” etc. I just want to understand what the impact of 
each of these things could be. 

I understand, if you read through, you go into more 
detail, where you look at each of the findings and then an 
example of what the finding was, and then the expecta-
tion of how it’s going to be addressed. Just to understand, 
kind of in layman’s terms or just directly, what would be 
the impact—just briefly, if you could just summarize. 

I’ll just go through, for example, the cabin safety. It’s 
a “moderate” classification, so it’s not as serious as 
“critical,” obviously. When I read that, it says, basically, 
that on their duties—persons assigned on-board duties—
people weren’t instructed on their duties, and that became 
a cabin-safety issue. What’s the actual impact, in simple 
terms? If you don’t know your duties, what could hap-
pen? What are the problems with not knowing that? What 
does that translate into? 

Do you follow my question? If I just say to you, 
“Cabin-safety issue,” and the issue is that they weren’t 
instructed on this, what is the actual impact? What could 
happen? What’s the weakness that follows from that dir-
ectly? I could guess that “cabin safety” means the cabin 
is not safe, but what does that actually mean? 

Mr. Imi Waljee: In this particular example, the 
person who is doing on-board duties—what happens is, 
normally the captain of the aircraft has to provide a 
briefing to the people in the back on safety, evacuation of 
an aircraft in an emergency—“These are the exits. This is 
where your fire extinguishers are located, your first-aid 
kit.” They give a briefing. 

When the configuration of an aircraft prohibits a cap-
tain from providing that briefing, they assign that duty to 
somebody else from the company who is going to be in 
the cabin and who can conduct that briefing and can in-
form the passengers that this is the emergency evacuation 
process in this particular aircraft. That’s what this par-
ticular cabin-safety finding is— 

Mr. Jagmeet Singh: Okay, I understand. In the 
“critical” areas, one of the things that came up was 
monitoring or being aware of the flight time and the rest 
periods of each of the flight crew. The safety impact of 
that is that if you have someone who is not taking enough 
rest time or has too much duty time, that would impact 
their ability to safely fly a vehicle or safely fly the 
aircraft. Is that what I understand that to be? 

Mr. Yves Lemieux: It could be. That’s why the duty 
time and rest time are there. It’s to ensure that people can 
operate at their maximum capability and not be fatigued. 

It’s not so much the one occasion. It’s just that if there 
is a continuum of not having enough rest, there’s sleep 
deprivation. Therefore it could affect your ability to do 
the duties. 

Mr. Jagmeet Singh: Okay. And if you could just tell 
me, then, out of these areas that you have addressed—I 
guess it’s safe to assume that the “critical” areas were the 
areas of biggest concern. Of the “critical” areas, what 
was the major concern, if you could say what the most 
serious concern was? Are you able to say what the 
biggest concern was that Transport Canada had? 
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Mr. Imi Waljee: What has happened is, like I men-

tioned before, we had version 5 of our staff instructions 
that came out. One of the changes in there was the classi-
fication of the findings, because what we had identified 
was that the verbiage of the classification of the findings 
was not quite accurate enough, and headquarters and our 
policy people agreed that the definitions needed to be 
changed. 

And so, if you look at version 5 of our staff instruc-
tions, which has a policy on classifying findings, you will 
not see “critical” in there; it is “minor,” “moderate,” and 
“major.” Also, the methodology of addressing that type 
of classification has changed. While staff instruction 
version 4 was in effect, headquarters had issued an inter-
nal process bulletin to give us further guidance on ad-
dressing non-conformances and taking actions on com-
panies where the reports were given out. It was like a 
bridge between the existing version 4 and version 5 
before it came out. 

Mr. Jagmeet Singh: Okay, but given that you had 
some issues with the use of the terms and that you 
weren’t satisfied, and now you have a new, more clear 
form where you have the new, redefined ways of classi-
fying, just applying your own analysis to this, what was a 
major concern that Transport Canada had with Ornge—if 
you could identify the major, or one of the most import-
ant, areas? 

Mr. Imi Waljee: I think the most important was really 
the lack of the training for the flight crew. Really, that’s 
number one. You want to make sure that the flight crew 
are trained before they go flying. 

Mr. Jagmeet Singh: Okay. I might have a question 
from my colleague. How much time do I have? 

The Chair (Mr. Norm Miller): You have six min-
utes. 

Mr. Jagmeet Singh: We’re okay. No more questions. 
Thanks. 

The Chair (Mr. Norm Miller): Okay, very well. Ms. 
Jaczek? 

Ms. Helena Jaczek: Thank you for coming down to 
help us today. I guess we’re trying to understand exactly 
how significant these three “critical” findings in Ornge’s 
PVI are. Obviously we know that they voluntarily 
grounded themselves and suspended operations until they 
had made the corrective action. But in terms of the 
inspections that are done, what sort of percentage of 
those would result in something like a “critical” finding? 
How often would this happen? 

Mr. Imi Waljee: It all depends on the organization 
and what we find within the organization. It’s very diffi-
cult to have a percentage, because we don’t measure per-
centages. We don’t really measure how often it occurs. 

Ms. Helena Jaczek: You don’t measure that? 
Mr. Imi Waljee: No. 
Ms. Helena Jaczek: I see. I find that strange. You’d 

think you’d want to have a sense overall of how often 
these things would occur. You’re not able to make any 
comment? 

Mr. Imi Waljee: We have a system—again, it’s a 
work in progress—where we do look at the types of 
findings because, when we talk about the risk profiling of 
an enterprise and we talk about coming up with a risk 
indicator level and number, we look at the types of find-
ings that enterprise had received from our inspections. 
We take that into consideration when we are saying, 
“Okay, they had a lot of “major” findings or “critical” 
findings.” It is at that stage when we are taking this into 
account and consideration, when we are doing the risk 
profiling. 

Ms. Helena Jaczek: Is there any trend in Canada, in 
terms of people moving to riskier and riskier profiles? 
Or, is it in the reverse? Do we have a sense of what’s 
happening out there? 

Mr. Imi Waljee: One of the things I talked about was 
that, when we do use our risk methodology system, it is 
more along seeing a change occurring within the organiz-
ation. When a company has a change in key personnel—
for example, they get a new chief pilot, or they get a new 
person responsible for maintenance—that is a change that 
has occurred in the organization. Sometimes a change 
can be for the better or for the worse, but we don’t know, 
so we say that a change has occurred, and then we see 
what number gets generated from our risk profile, which 
might change the frequency as to when we are going to 
go back and inspect the company. 

Ms. Helena Jaczek: Yes, I understand the process. 
I’m just surprised that we don’t have an overview sense 
by Transport Canada as to, with all these changes, is 
there more and more risk occurring? One would hope, 
with companies being educated and obviously, presum-
ably, with the best interests of their passengers and crew 
at stake, that we would be seeing system-wide lessening 
of risk. Any comment? 

Mr. Yves Lemieux: One of the changes you’re 
talking about, the change in the model that we use from 
an oversight and surveillance point of view—the reason 
for this change is that the most critical aspect of air 
operations is that we’re not there all the time. Therefore, 
the change is that we want the company to have in place 
systems and processes that will ensure internal monitor-
ing of their performance and take action when they 
uncover something, because we’re not there all the time. 
The accountable executive is responsible, when we issue 
an operating certificate, to comply with all the regular 
requirements, so that accountable executive must have in 
place a self-audit and internal audit capability to monitor 
their operation. When we uncover non-compliance, it is 
clear that the system has some deficiencies, and we ex-
pect the accountable executive or his company’s organiz-
ation to actually correct and change the process to make 
sure that there are no gaps in their monitoring and in their 
performance. It’s not self-regulation. It’s just that be-
cause we’re not there all the time, we want them to have 
in place procedures that will assess their performance and 
correct things before we get there to uncover it. 

Ms. Helena Jaczek: So how do you feel when they 
tell you that they have an Argus platinum rating? Does 
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that have any impact on the way that you look at their 
self-audit systems? Does that reassure you if they tell you 
that they have achieved that through this third party, 
Argus? 

Mr. Yves Lemieux: If, they can demonstrate that it is 
effective, and when we look and when we sample—all 
the sampling that we do—and we determine that things 
are compliant, then we have a level of comfort. That’s 
when the risk profile of the company may be modified; 
maybe from a three-year cycle they go on a four-year 
cycle. 

Ms. Helena Jaczek: Has Transport Canada ever as-
sessed the Argus audit system? 

Mr. Imi Waljee: I haven’t heard of it. 
Ms. Helena Jaczek: You’re not familiar with that? 
Mr. Imi Waljee: No. 
Mr. Yves Lemieux: No. 
Ms. Helena Jaczek: No. Okay. It was quoted to us by 

many of the air carriers, that they use this as a way of, I 
guess, self-auditing. 

Mr. Yves Lemieux: If when we go in, we don’t un-
cover anything, whomever is doing the auditing is 
effective, whether it’s internal to the company or it’s a 
third party or it’s an independent individual and all that. 
That’s what we’re satisfied with: when we look at the 
company, that they are compliant. 

Ms. Helena Jaczek: So they may have used that 
mechanism, but as long as you see what you require— 

Mr. Yves Lemieux: The end result, okay—when we 
do sampling and we see that everything is in place and, 
more importantly, the company can explain to us how 
they are monitoring, how they are assessing. They have 
internal audit reports, for example, every six months, 
eight months, whatever it is, and all that. This can be 
used as well for us in the documentation of the company 
to look into specific areas, particular areas, because we 
have some concern. 

Ms. Helena Jaczek: Okay, I see. So it’s used by the 
company to help themselves to meet your standards, es-
sentially. 

Mr. Yves Lemieux: That’s right. 
Ms. Helena Jaczek: Okay. I think I’m clear. 
Now maybe we could just turn to your relationship 

with the current people at Ornge. In fact, Rob Giguere is 
the appropriate operations manager or individual that you 
relate to. Can you comment on how often there is con-
tact? Is it something where you, as Transport Canada, 
have had a positive relationship? We’ve heard that they 
suspended voluntarily at the point of your PVI etc. Can 
you make any comment related to how this is working 
between Ornge and Transport Canada? 
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Mr. Imi Waljee: Rob is the accountable executive, 
which is at a very high level, right? Like you’ve men-
tioned, the accountable executive has to ensure that the 
company remains in regulatory compliance. So when we 
have a discussion with the accountable executive of any 
enterprise, it is when we want to stress the importance of 
meeting the regulatory requirements, and our relationship 

with Rob has been very positive. We haven’t had any 
issues at all with communicating with him. 

Ms. Helena Jaczek: And you’re confident he has the 
issue of aviation safety first and foremost in your dealings 
with him? 

Mr. Imi Waljee: All the discussions I’ve had with 
him so far do show that positiveness. 

Ms. Helena Jaczek: I understand that you’ve been 
working with Ornge on the new AW139 aircraft interiors. 
Have your inspectors been part of that process? 

Mr. Yves Lemieux: Our engineers have. 
Mr. Imi Waljee: Yes, the engineers. 
Ms. Helena Jaczek: Your engineers, yes? 
Mr. Yves Lemieux: For the modifications. 
Ms. Helena Jaczek: Are you aware of how that pro-

gress—we know there was an interim solution moving 
towards a permanent one. Do you have any updates for 
us on that? 

Mr. Yves Lemieux: No, honestly. I can get back to 
you if you wish. 

Ms. Helena Jaczek: Yes. We have been a little con-
cerned. It’s obviously one of these issues that there’s a 
stopgap solution at the moment, and we want to be as-
sured that we’re moving to something more permanent. 

You’ve mentioned that if you receive intelligence 
from either an anonymous or a source who wishes to 
have a report back—are you aware of any intelligence 
reports that you’ve received concerning Ornge, say, in 
2013? 

Mr. Yves Lemieux: I don’t believe that I have infor-
mation now. 

Ms. Helena Jaczek: Okay. 
Mr. Yves Lemieux: We hear a lot of—we read the 

paper like everybody else. 
Ms. Helena Jaczek: I meant to your line; say, a pilot 

who’s concerned, or some sort of intelligence that things 
are not good in relation to Ornge aviation at the moment. 
Mr. Klees gets lots of phone calls, I understand, but do 
you? 

Mr. Imi Waljee: Currently, right now, I would say 
no. We haven’t received anything over the last little 
while. There were some emails before with inspectors 
after the incident that occurred in May. 

Ms. Helena Jaczek: Yes. 
Mr. Imi Waljee: But after that, recently we have re-

ceived nothing that I’m aware of. 
Ms. Helena Jaczek: That you’re aware of. 
Mr. Imi Waljee: Yes. 
Ms. Helena Jaczek: Okay, so it’s not like you’re get-

ting lots of complaints or concerns related to the aviation 
safety at Ornge. 

Mr. Imi Waljee: Not recently, no. 
Ms. Helena Jaczek: Okay, thank you. 
I guess we’ve also been rather intrigued by the instal-

lation of this traffic alert and collision avoidance system, 
TCAS, and also there’s the other one, the terrain aware-
ness warning system, TAWS, on aircraft. What’s the 
position of Transport Canada in terms of the need for the 
installation of these two systems? 
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Mr. Yves Lemieux: I would have to look at what the 
status is, and the requirement. I think it’s voluntary. I 
understand the company decided to install the equipment 
on board, but I don’t know at what stage it is— 

Ms. Helena Jaczek: So it’s not a requirement by 
Transport Canada to have this equipment. 

Mr. Yves Lemieux: That is correct. 
Ms. Helena Jaczek: Do you have any plans to require 

installation of these two systems? 
Mr. Yves Lemieux: We would have to— 
Mr. Imi Waljee: We would have to check the regula-

tions to see to whom it applies. 
Mr. Yves Lemieux: Yes. 
Mr. Imi Waljee: Because the regulations apply only 

to specific types of aircraft in operation where it is man-
datory. The other ones are voluntary; carriers can put 
them in there. 

Ms. Helena Jaczek: So as far as you know, if Ornge 
is starting to require the installation, that’s a voluntary 
upgrade. 

Mr. Yves Lemieux: Yes. 
Ms. Helena Jaczek: Okay; thank you. 
Maybe we could have some clarification on what the 

plan is for Transport Canada going forward, if there is 
any change, and who exactly this is mandatory for. 

Mr. Imi Waljee: Sure. We can get back to you on 
that. 

Ms. Helena Jaczek: Okay. That would be useful. 
The Chair (Mr. Norm Miller): You’re pretty much 

out of time, although the NDP had six minutes left. Do 
you want to split that? 

Mr. Jagmeet Singh: Yes: two, two and two. 
Ms. Helena Jaczek: Two, two, two. 
The Chair (Mr. Norm Miller): So you have another 

three minutes, then, if you want. 
Mr. Imi Waljee: Actually, Mr. Chair, if you don’t 

mind, something just came to my mind. I would like to 
respond to Mr. Frank Klees when he talked about the 
SMS on the carrier. It’ll take me about two minutes to 
explain. 

The Chair (Mr. Norm Miller): Is that fine, Ms. 
Jaczek? Mr. Klees? 

Mr. Frank Klees: Yes, that’s fine. 
The Chair (Mr. Norm Miller): Go ahead. Yes. 
Mr. Imi Waljee: There is another process we have for 

voluntary implementation of SMS for companies where 
the SMS rule does not apply. What we’re calling it is 
SMS in transition. What happens is, for carriers like the 
703s and 704s that want to transition to SMS in prepara-
tion for the rule coming down, we have staff instruction 
which provides them with the methodology to be consid-
ered as SMS in transition. The carrier that you’re men-
tioning might be an SMS-in-transition carrier, but it’s not 
a full-blown SMS; it’s just a small version of a few 
elements of the SMS. 

Mr. Frank Klees: Thank you very much. Can I take 
my two minutes? 

The Chair (Mr. Norm Miller): Go ahead. 

Mr. Frank Klees: Just to follow up on the TAWS 
system: You are getting back to us, but information that I 
have is that, particularly with regard to the helicopters 
that are being used by Ornge—the Sikorskys, for ex-
ample—it is a Transport Canada requirement that if you 
don’t have TAWS, you’re not allowed to fly. You leave 
the impression that it’s voluntary, that it’s an option. So I 
have conflicting information. If you would get back to us 
on that, we’d appreciate it. 

Mr. Imi Waljee: Yes, we will. The rule will tell us 
what type of aircraft and operation requires TAWS, and 
we’ll get back to you, because we don’t have it. 

Mr. Frank Klees: Okay. Thank you very much. 
The Chair (Mr. Norm Miller): Anything else? 
Mr. Frank Klees: No, I think that’s fine. I want to 

thank you again for being here. As I say, I think you’ve 
left us with good information. Of major concern to me, 
quite frankly, are what I see as the gaps in the oversight 
system. We’ll have time to deal with that at some point 
along the way. I’m sure you’re doing the best that you 
can, but I do think that we have a problem. We have an 
issue here that is of a broader policy nature that isn’t for 
you to fix. But it’s certainly my intention to be in touch 
with our colleagues at the federal level to raise some 
questions about how this SMS system is working and 
some things that I believe can be done to tighten up the 
oversight of our air transportation system. 

The Chair (Mr. Norm Miller): Thank you. Ms. 
Jaczek, do you have— 

Ms. Helena Jaczek: Just simply, I wanted to say 
thank you again for helping us out here. Just to confirm 
one last time—my colleague from Thunder Bay was ob-
viously anxious about it—but at this point in time, to the 
best of your knowledge, Ornge’s air operations are safe? 

Mr. Imi Waljee: They currently hold an air operating 
certificate. As far as the companies holding that certifi-
cate, they are meeting our regulatory requirements. 

Ms. Helena Jaczek: Thank you. 
The Chair (Mr. Norm Miller): Thank you for coming 

before the committee today. It’s very much appreciated. 
We’ll recess until this afternoon. 
The committee recessed from 1018 to 1234. 

MR. TED RABICKI 
The Chair (Mr. Norm Miller): I’d like to call the 

committee to order and welcome Mr. Ted Rabicki to the 
committee this afternoon. You have up to 10 minutes to 
make your presentation. Just to confirm: You received 
the letter for a witness coming before the committee? 

Mr. Ted Rabicki: I did, yes. 
The Chair (Mr. Norm Miller): You can either swear 

an oath or— 
The Clerk of the Committee (Mr. William Short): 

Yes, he’s going to swear the oath. 
The Chair (Mr. Norm Miller): Okay. We’ll have the 

Clerk swear an oath. 
The Clerk of the Committee (Mr. William Short): 

Thanks, Mr. Rabicki. Do you solemnly swear that the 
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evidence you shall give to this committee touching the 
subject of the present inquiry shall be the truth, the whole 
truth and nothing but the truth, so help you God? 

Mr. Ted Rabicki: I do. 
The Clerk of the Committee (Mr. William Short): 

Thank you. 
The Chair (Mr. Norm Miller): Okay. Welcome, and 

go ahead with your presentation. 
Mr. Ted Rabicki: Thank you. Good afternoon, Mr. 

Chairman and ladies and gentlemen of this public 
accounts committee. My name is Ted Rabicki and I am a 
former employee of Ornge. I resigned in August and left 
Ornge of my own accord in September of this year after 
almost eight years with the company. 

The air ambulance experience was my first public sec-
tor work experience, and the decision to leave was a very 
difficult one for me. I wonder at times how this job has 
inspired me and reflect if there is a linkage to other as-
pects of public service. 

You see, over the last few years, I’ve joined two fire 
departments, one on a volunteer basis and the other as a 
part-time employee. I am proud to serve when I am able. 
I’ve spent the majority of my 28-year career in the 
private sector, mostly in the technical telecommunica-
tions base of industries, and have held many positions, 
from front-line management to executive roles. I worked 
at small entrepreneurial companies, did some consulting, 
and led large teams at multi-billion dollar corporations. 
I’m a professional engineer. I have a dual degree in en-
gineering and business, and I paid for that myself. 

My career at Ontario Air Ambulance Services Co. 
started in a technical consulting role around the time that 
the Ministry of Health decided to outsource the manage-
ment of the air ambulance service. It was early 2006. I 
was charged with ensuring the migration of all communi-
cations infrastructure: telephones, radios, recording sys-
tems and base communications infrastructure. I had to 
ensure that the cutover of the lines and the data circuits 
flowed seamlessly from the Ministry of Health to the 
Ontario Air Ambulance Services Co. I participated in this 
three times: once with the Ministry of Health to the OAA 
when they outsourced, and then followed that with two 
moves of the communications centre. 

Shortly after that, I was asked to lead a team to de-
velop a replacement system for the two systems that the 
Ministry of Health had been using for medical informa-
tion capture and transport management—loosely, a dis-
patch system. At the time, the dispatch and medical 
information systems were running on legacy computer 
platforms that dated back to 1998. There was no source 
code available, and there was a hefty maintenance fee. I 
believe it was in the order of $17,500 per month in IT 
charges to support this system with an outsource vendor. 
The replacement system was rapidly engineered, working 
closely with the communications personnel and with our 
vendor at the time, Dapasoft. We went live in May 2007 
at a cost of some $130,000. This received mention in the 
2012 Auditor General’s report, and the system was still 
functioning when I left—although I understand a replace-

ment computer-aided dispatch system is close to deploy-
ment. 

In the same time frame, an RFI was launched to the 
standing agreement carriers since management was con-
templating overhauling the Ministry of Health contract 
structure. Ontario Air Ambulance Services Co. renewed 
the standard MOH SA contract at least twice, to my 
recollection, using their format. 

Some key changes that came from the consultation 
with the SAs was a switch from the Ministry of Health 
payment model for work based on miles flown to a pay-
ment structure based on hours flown and productivity per 
hour. The notion was to simplify billing and more closely 
parallel the aviation industry, which has many costs 
driven on an hourly basis. Fuel management improve-
ment would be an outcome, too. At the same time, a pos-
ition was taken to raise the safety standard and eliminate 
piston-powered aircraft from the fleet. With that position 
came the acknowledgement that the carriers would need 
to modernize their fleet to pressurized turboprop aircraft. 
Discussions ensued, and many carriers would need to 
invest if they were to continue to participate in this mar-
ket. Out of this was born the first multi-year RFP contract 
structure and the notion of a guaranteed book of business 
to support their investment. With some tweaking, that 
contract structure remains intact today. 

It was a very busy time, and I recall many initiatives in 
play. Thunder Bay was piloting a PCI clinic—percuta-
neous intervention, I believe—and we had to arrange 
standby capacity to support this. The pilot was a success, 
which ultimately led to the third dedicated base of fixed-
wing operation in Thunder Bay. Prior to this, there was a 
dedicated contract in place to service the Sioux Lookout 
and Timmins bases. The contract was with Voyageur 
Airways, and I believe they serviced that from the late 
1980s up until the late 2000s. 

The challenges with staffing the bases and possibly 
some other motives led to the investigation of the forma-
tion of Ornge Air. While the SA markets claim Ornge Air 
took business away, I believe there is some truth to that, 
to the extent that the flying relates to the advanced care 
business and possibly some primary care flying. But I 
believe this dynamic comes with balancing a fixed and a 
variable cost environment and maximizing asset utiliza-
tion. 
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I remember some discussion about putting the request 
for a new dedicated player to the market, but the decision 
was made to insource based on costs and control. Many 
other initiatives were under way. I developed a new, sim-
plified framework for organ transports, a process that is 
in place today and is both more competitive and simpler 
than the previous Ministry of Health model. 

I assisted in any area I could, including the develop-
ment of financial models for the helicopter acquisition; 
supporting the development of the superbase concept; 
designing alternatives for communication systems for the 
Ornge fleet; RFPs for fuel farms; and was primed for 
base modifications for the arrival of the new helicopters; 
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jet evaluations for the international business; and any 
other spontaneous task that was triaged to my desk. 

After the previous SA liaison left, I more formally 
assumed responsibilities. Over the last couple of years, in 
addition to this function, I was asked to oversee and 
assist with the improvement of parts, materials and 
equipment flow to support the Ornge fleet. 

In the end, the persistent courting of the private sector 
won my decision, and I have moved on to a different en-
vironment of clarity, accountability and performance 
awareness. Today, as I reflect on my time at Ornge, I 
would have to say that it has been most interesting. 

The core work that is done by the employees and the 
vendors that deliver the medical transport service in the 
air and on the ground has a very positive and profound 
impact on the patients they touch. I’ve seen it both on 
and off the job. The professionalism, confidence and 
courage are inspiring. We must not lose sight of that. 
There are many passionate employees at Ornge, pas-
sionate about the right things. That passion needs to be 
harnessed and channelled, for if misappropriated or left 
unattended—well, we know the outcome. 

I believe the core management team at Ornge today, 
with Andy—and yes, that’s how we address him—he is 
on the right track. He is a genuine human being. He has a 
plan. He has engaged the stakeholders and is looking at 
the right things, as far as I’m concerned. He and his team, 
along with the board, need to balance the seemingly 
opposed forces of medical care and cost. We all need to 
give him and Ornge the room to move, to breathe, and let 
him and his team run the company with the right level of 
support, the right level of oversight and the right per-
formance agreement, and minimize the distractions and 
sensationalism. Sensationalism breeds paranoia and polit-
ical fear that cripple management, or it leads to some 
form of analysis paralysis. It is time to move on. 

Thank you for listening, and I look forward to helping 
you in any way that I can. 

The Chair (Mr. Norm Miller): Thank you for those 
opening remarks. 

We’ll go to the NDP to begin with, and you have 20 
minutes, Ms. Forster. 

Ms. Cindy Forster: Thanks so much. Thank you, Mr. 
Rabicki, for being here today. I understand you’ve been 
here before? 

Mr. Ted Rabicki: Never. 
Ms. Cindy Forster: Oh, you’ve never been here be-

fore? This is the first time. 
Mr. Ted Rabicki: No. This is the first time. 
Ms. Cindy Forster: All right. You’ve told us a little 

bit about your position at Ornge. How long did you ac-
tually work there? 

Mr. Ted Rabicki: I worked there as a consultant from 
around the 2006 time frame, and in July 2009, I was 
hired as a full-time employee. 

Ms. Cindy Forster: Can you explain to the committee 
why you left Ornge? 

Mr. Ted Rabicki: I would have to say that it was for 
personal reasons. I was approached to work at a private 

sector company, and when the position and the offer 
came—and what the job brought to the table—and I 
looked at my future at Ornge, the private sector won, re-
grettably. 

Ms. Cindy Forster: You talked in the final moments 
of your presentation about the core work of employees 
and vendors and the great impact that they actually have 
on patient care in this province, and the need for that 
passion to be harnessed—or unharnessed, I guess; un-
harnessed. Did you observe during your time there that 
employees’ suggestions, recommendations weren’t 
listened to, that the management team wasn’t seeking ad-
vice or input from front-line employees? 

Mr. Ted Rabicki: Yes. To varying degrees under the 
different management regimes, absolutely. It was a dif-
ferent culture with Dr. Mazza there. I vividly remember a 
town hall conference call where one of the paramedics 
suggested that they be supplied with the equivalent of 
construction gloves that they could wear at a scene—lots 
of sharp objects; broken glass, if it’s a roadside acci-
dent—and the response was, “You’re in the middle of a 
collective bargaining discussion. If you want something, 
pursue it that way.” To me, that was a no-brainer, for the 
cost that’s involved and the intrinsic benefit that comes 
with it. 

Under current management, I believe they have pro-
actively gone out and asked the employees what needs to 
change, and that information has been supplied. They’re 
distilling it, I know, as we speak, with input from the 
stakeholders, with input from the board and with the rest 
of the participants that play in this system, to give the 
best effort that they have to make it right. 

Ms. Cindy Forster: Whom did you actually report to 
at Ornge? 

Mr. Ted Rabicki: I reported to Jim Feeley, most re-
cently. He’s the vice-president of aviation operations for 
the Ornge fleet. Prior to that, it was Rick Potter. 

Ms. Cindy Forster: Do you know who replaced you 
once you left Ornge? 

Mr. Ted Rabicki: My role was split in two, as I 
understand. The SA liaison part of it went to a fellow by 
the name of Ainsley Boodoosingh, and the parts manage-
ment piece went to John Mokos. 

Ms. Cindy Forster: When you started out there as a 
full-time employee, it sounded in your presentation like 
you had one role, but when somebody left, you also 
assumed parts of that second role. 

Mr. Ted Rabicki: No. At the time—it was a couple of 
years ago—Jim Feeley, my boss, came and said, “We 
need some help internally to navigate the procurement 
process, to keep parts flowing in a timely manner. We 
have personnel that are charged with buying parts and 
getting them into the hands of the maintenance personnel 
to repair the aircraft, but, quite frankly, the burden of 
navigating through the public process requires a lot of 
resources facing inward.” I tried to assist with getting the 
right approvals in place and the right context around what 
we were doing so that we would not have a service 
impact because of parts being delayed getting to the field. 
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Ms. Cindy Forster: Okay. In previous committee 
meetings, your name has come up a couple of times. The 
first was with Bob Mackie of Thunder Airlines, who said 
that you had been very helpful in resolving conflict-of-
interest situations when it came to dispatching. Can you 
expand a little bit on that and your relationships? 

Mr. Ted Rabicki: Yes. I believe, for the record, that I 
had a good relationship with the standing agreement 
carriers. Over the years, we grew from a very formal 
structure to an informal type of relationship. I don’t 
believe any of them had an issue communicating with 
me—a concern. I used to get many “rumour” phone calls. 
I would almost call it a self-policing effect. They all 
watched each other. It is a very competitive environment. 

Bob Mackie made me aware that his flying dynamic 
had changed, so I investigated and discovered that there 
was an Ornge employee who was working for a competi-
tor to Thunder Airlines. Ornge has in place dispatch 
algorithms that are to be followed to maintain the integ-
rity of the business model when sending aircraft on a 
mission for patient movement. It appeared that those al-
gorithms weren’t being followed, so I brought it to the 
attention of senior management that there may be a con-
flict there, and I brought it to the attention of the director 
in the Ornge Communications Centre. It was resolved. 
My understanding was that that employee had to make a 
choice to either continue to work at Ornge exclusively or 
resign. That’s what I understood had happened. 
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There was a code of ethics conflict-of-interest process, 
or protocol, put into play. We all had to sign it and de-
clare any perceived conflicts—questionable conflicts—
that would, in simple terms, impact our ability to execute 
our duties as Ornge employees. 

It wasn’t anything dark and ominous in some cases. 
For me, personally, for example, I had to declare that I 
fight fires when I’m not at Ornge, and there was—my 
role is probably a little more benign, as someone who 
works at a desk, than a front-line employee who has to be 
on their A-game at all times. 

So I think, in the spirit of that, they wanted to under-
stand, to the extent that human rights would let them, 
what Ornge employees were doing when they weren’t 
working at Ornge. And the OCC personnel—Ornge 
Communications Centre personnel—every employee had 
to declare their conflicts. 

Ms. Cindy Forster: So they weren’t actually able to 
work for more than one employer. 

Mr. Ted Rabicki: I don’t believe Ornge would limit 
their ability to work for one employer, but they had to 
declare if they did. Then it was up to senior management 
to decide if that was tolerable or not. 

We’ve heard, and I’ve reviewed the tapes from previ-
ous sessions where the SA carriers will openly say—and 
I will confirm that—that there are Ornge medics who 
work on their days off at the standing agreement carrier 
operations. In fact, many paramedics work in other juris-
dictions, so we’ll have paramedic and some management 

work as management for land-based systems in the prov-
ince. 

Ms. Cindy Forster: Okay. The second time your 
name came up was during Rick Horwath’s Air Bravo 
testimony that said you were part of the team at Ornge 
that had tried to convince carriers to lower their bills. Can 
you talk a bit about that? 

Mr. Ted Rabicki: Absolutely. The RFP—and it is an 
RFP. I noticed in some of the discussions it was present-
ed as a tender, and, while not being a procurement expert, 
I understand there are different constraints and conditions 
around a tender process than an RFP. Our RFP stated in 
black-and-white terms that we reserved the right to nego-
tiate, and we did. 

Of course we negotiated with Mr. Horwath. His initial 
bid submission on pricing was 60% higher than what the 
current market rates were. So I think he read the clause 
that we would negotiate—and I don’t feel it’s unreason-
able behaviour. Any competitive business person who’s 
fighting for their slice of the pie would do that. History 
had it that we would negotiate. Previous RFPs have that 
negotiation provision in there, and we took advantage of 
that to get value for the patients and the taxpayers in the 
province. 

Ms. Cindy Forster: So were those bids high because 
there were enough players in the sector? 

Mr. Ted Rabicki: No. I can categorically say that 
some players didn’t change their pricing at all. They 
came in flat. We welcomed that. Others wanted to take 
an attempt at the negotiation process. 

Ms. Cindy Forster: Okay. You talked a bit about 
being kind of proud of a multi-year RFP that you were 
able to get going, and it was around the area of IT. Was it 
in the IT area? 

Mr. Ted Rabicki: No. The IT work—I’m proud of 
that, too. It was a very good example of real-time proto-
typing and design from a software perspective and 
putting that into play, because there were time con-
straints. 

The infrastructure that was inherited was shaky. I 
think it was at the end of its useful life, and so there was 
concern, in simple terms, that if that system went down, 
there wasn’t a graceful way to restore it. So it was a pri-
ority to quickly get into play the system that currently—
well, it was in play when I was there. We did it with our 
vendor, with what we now call OCC personnel at the 
table. “We want it to look like this, feel like this.” 
Models were built, and they were accepted and put into 
play. It was very efficient and quick. 

Did we get it 100% right? I think everyone has an 
opinion on what it should look like. Change is difficult 
on people. The legacy users liked the old green screen 
technology. The newer users embraced it. Can it be im-
proved? Absolutely. Any system can, absolutely. 

Ms. Cindy Forster: So it wasn’t really about saving 
money at that point. It was really about making sure that 
you had a system in place that was modern and could do 
the job. 

Mr. Ted Rabicki: The driving force there was stabil-
ity. There was real concern that if that system went 
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down—paralysis may be an extreme dynamic—you can 
work on paper, but it’s clumsy and inefficient. So, yes, 
there needs to be a system; there needed to be a system. 

Ms. Cindy Forster: Were you at Ornge before Dr. 
Mazza started? 

Mr. Ted Rabicki: No. 
Ms. Cindy Forster: No, it was only after. Can you 

talk about whether your time at Ornge, under that man-
agement model, was a positive experience or a negative 
experience? Can you expand on that a little bit? 

Mr. Ted Rabicki: I think overall, if I was going to 
grade it, I would say it was positive. As I mentioned in 
my opening remarks, it was my first experience in the 
public sector. There was a lot of stuff going on. There 
were a lot of things happening. We were witnessing the 
branding, which, quite frankly, to this day still somewhat 
confuses me. 

Watching Dr. Mazza move and how quick—I think at 
the onset, the quick movements and the agenda were the 
right ones, and then it became too visionary. I believe he 
became bored with Ontario, and that’s why this whole 
international—well, there are other factors on the inter-
national. But the mandate was, according to Chris, that 
the government told him to cut costs, generate efficien-
cies and find new sources of revenue. I think the first two 
were boring work, so he got on the international side of it 
and I think it became almost exclusive at the end, where 
all the energy at the end—the end of his career there—
was poured into getting that online. 

Ms. Cindy Forster: Did you have any direct contact 
with the Ministry of Health during your period of time 
there? 

Mr. Ted Rabicki: I did. In the early stages, when we 
were looking at infrastructure, I met some of the Ministry 
of Health personnel, more from what I think is called the 
GMCO, the government mobile communications office, 
when we were looking at the infrastructure and how we 
could best use it—at one point we were exploring ex-
panding the radio footprint for the aircraft—and then to 
the extent that ministry personnel came in at the end, 
when the investigation started. But outside of that, I 
know a few of the guys—have made some calls with 
them: Rob Nishman, Rick Smiles and those folks. 

Ms. Cindy Forster: What were your relationships like 
with the ministry? 

Mr. Ted Rabicki: Good, good. It was open. I know 
they were watching. When we post RFPs and tenders, 
you can see who has downloaded them. Nishman’s name 
was always on the list. Yes, I think we had a good rela-
tionship at the working level with the ministry. 

Ms. Cindy Forster: How much time do I have left? 
The Chair (Mr. Norm Miller): You have three min-

utes. 
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Ms. Cindy Forster: Okay. I’ll save it if I can. 
The Chair (Mr. Norm Miller): Okay; very good. Ms. 

Jaczek. 
Ms. Helena Jaczek: Thank you, Chair, and thank you, 

Mr. Rabicki, for coming. As you know, the reason you 

are here is because your name came up during the time 
when we had the standing agreement carriers in front of 
us. There were certain allegations made. I think maybe 
I’ll just start with that in relation to the comments of Mr. 
Horwath from Air Bravo. 

From your perspective, your process was the same as 
it had always been on this particular occasion of looking 
at the contract? From what I heard you say, you saw a 
price increase, essentially, when you opened the envelope 
and looked at the proposal that they had. Through the 
years, previously, if you saw something like that you 
would make a phone call and start asking for reasons. 
Could you just explain or lead us through what that con-
versation, from your perspective, with Mr. Horwath was 
all about? 

Mr. Ted Rabicki: Yes. Perhaps the best way to an-
swer that is to sort of walk through the evolution of the 
contract. From the ministry vintage—2006 in the first 
two times—Ornge or Ontario Air Ambulance renewed it 
on an annual—it was an annual contract, and it was put 
out for tender. The way the pricing worked was, “Come 
back and give us a price per mile.” There were no guar-
antees. There was, “If we call you, we want to know 
what you’re going to charge us.” 

So, philosophically, when you look at that and you 
say, “Well, (a), there’s no bargaining chip on this end; 
you have nothing to negotiate; and (b), given the differ-
ent mission profiles that aircraft can fly, you are layering 
a whole amount of risk into that price point, because 
that’s one-price-fits-all, and that’s not necessarily appro-
priate”—out of that grew this pricing structure that is 
based on an hourly basis. When we introduced that, we 
had every carrier in—and I think they referred to that—to 
meet and make sure they understood what that change 
meant to them and to make sure that they got that change 
correct. We supplied them with data. We compared with 
their data to look at, “How fast does your airplane fly; 
how much distance can it cover; and how would that 
translate into an hourly rate?”, so that they understood 
the morphing from cost-per-mile to cost-per-hour. 

It was very intensive in terms of the discussions. We 
had them in several times. I think one of the carriers 
mentioned the participants. I was at the table. Fred Rusk 
was at the table. There was a procurement fellow by the 
name of Conrad Caia; he was at the table. We wanted to 
make sure that we got it right and they understood the 
changes to this pricing structure. There were some inher-
ent issues with the cost-per-mile tariff, if I can call it that. 

Ms. Helena Jaczek: And just to make sure that we’ve 
got it clear time-wise— 

Mr. Ted Rabicki: Yes. 
Ms. Helena Jaczek: This was before Ornge obtained 

its own aircraft? 
Mr. Ted Rabicki: Correct, yes. This was the first 

version of this cost-per-hour contract which was signed 
in 2008, yes. 

Ms. Helena Jaczek: Okay, yes. 
Mr. Ted Rabicki: Yes, so that is correct. 
Ms. Helena Jaczek: Because we did hear from some 

of the carriers that, I believe, at that meeting they felt 
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threatened, or it was—could you just characterize what—
you have, to a certain extent, but you perhaps have read 
some of the accusations. Could you tell us your side? 

Mr. Ted Rabicki: Sure. Let me say for the record that 
I’m not an aviator. I think I was the only employee in 
Ornge aviation, notwithstanding some of our support 
people, who was not an aviator. I’m not a pilot. I’m not 
an aviation maintenance engineer. I was the black sheep 
in the conscience. That was an interesting dynamic to my 
role. One thing that I can say, as—what I’ll self-label—a 
layperson, is that the aviation industry is regulated, clear-
ly, and Transport Canada, as the governing body, ensures 
that a standard is maintained in the field. When you look 
at how you are supposed to fly an airplane, there’s no 
Cadbury secret there. You fly according to the rules. So I 
think if there are allegations of stealing trade secrets, I’m 
not sure there are any trade secrets when it comes to 
flying. I think plagiarism is acceptable, if that’s not a 
hostile type of term, because Transport will look at it and 
say, “Yes, we understand these operating procedures. We 
understand this company operations manual. We’ve seen 
stuff like this before and we’ve accepted it before.” That 
acceptance and commitment to that standard is the most 
graceful way to get your licence and get into business. 
There’s no valid reason that you would reinvent the 
wheel and start with a blank piece of paper and try and 
do that. 

In fact, the individual who was priming the very first 
version of the Ornge Air operations manuals and operat-
ing procedures was a fellow by the name of Rick 
Korswagen—I believe he’s overseas now—and he was 
former vice-president of aviation operations at Voyageur 
Airways. 

Did we hire some pilots from our carriers? Absolutely. 
Does WestJet hire some Ornge pilots? Absolutely. That’s 
the way the industry works. You start, in an extreme sense, 
as a bush pilot and you work your way up the experience 
chain. And the motivated, aggressive, career-oriented 
pilots? They want to be across the road at Pearson flying 
the big, heavy metal. 

Ms. Helena Jaczek: And when they move to the new 
organization, the knowledge that they have, obviously, is 
transferred with them. 

Mr. Ted Rabicki: Absolutely. The Pilatus aircraft 
that Ornge flies—albeit a newer generation and it has dif-
ferent front end—there’s value in that experience. So 
why not? That makes sense. 

Ms. Helena Jaczek: In your role as director of avi-
ation contracts, you never saw anything untoward? You 
weren’t receiving any pressure to somehow negotiate 
contracts in a way that you felt was not businesslike or 
was inappropriate? 

Mr. Ted Rabicki: No, absolutely not. 
Ms. Helena Jaczek: Because there was some allega-

tion, again from Mr. Horwath, that implicated Dr. 
McCallum definitely in some negative context around the 
negotiation of price. 

Mr. Ted Rabicki: No. Why price is important—as I 
mentioned before in the previous model, cost per mile—

there’s no lever. So I sit across the table and I say to the 
carrier, “Well, is that your best price per mile?” And they 
say, “Yes, take it or leave it.” 

The neat thing is, in marketing 101, you have a guar-
antee purse that is valued because it helps them plan their 
business; it helps them finance their business. And now 
we have a viable negotiating platform that we can dis-
cuss. In simple economic theory, volume discounts are 
what we’re looking for. 

We used the levers that we had to say, “We have a 
pool of guarantee hours. Clearly, philosophically, funda-
mentally, the more we give you from a guarantee, the 
better price performance we expect.” I don’t see anything 
untoward there. 

We wanted to make sure that they understood, because 
the way the dispatch algorithm works, once a patient 
need is identified and there’s a requirement to marry that 
to an aircraft, a list of suitable equipment is produced. 
Once it’s suitable, it meets the criteria, medically, to 
move that patient. Then we switch to the value equation 
and what is the most cost-effective way to move that 
patient. So the more aggressive your price, the more 
efficient your aircraft, the higher you’re going to be on 
that list. It starts at the top and the first machine goes out. 
That’s how it works. 

Ms. Helena Jaczek: Exactly. You were there before 
Ornge acquired its own aircraft and subsequent. 

Mr. Ted Rabicki: Yes. 
Ms. Helena Jaczek: Again, from the standing agree-

ment carriers we heard, they were very resentful, ob-
viously—naturally, if it cut into their business—that 
Ornge was taking this step. Once Ornge had acquired 
their own aircraft, the standing agreement carriers were 
also concerned that they were being pushed off into just 
primary care, inter-facility transports with minimal risk, 
and they were losing the other part of the business requir-
ing advanced care and so on. But this has puzzled me, 
because the vast majority of the transports are for inter-
facility low-risk transportation, in essence. So help me, if 
you can, understand how—they were presumably no 
longer doing on-scene transfers. Actually, is that correct? 
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Mr. Ted Rabicki: I would struggle to have a standing 
agreement carrier do a scene call. Scene calls are events 
that happen not at an airport—a trauma, a hunting acci-
dent, a traffic collision. Thus far, for the most part, the 
majority of that domain resides with the rotary-wing 
aircraft. 

Ms. Helena Jaczek: Presumably—obviously, before 
Ornge had their own aircraft—Canadian Helicopters did 
attend at scenes. 

Mr. Ted Rabicki: Yes. 
Ms. Helena Jaczek: In this whole move to obtain 

their own aircraft, was there some thought that this was 
an emergency public service that required in-house capa-
city? Was that part of the motivation? 

Mr. Ted Rabicki: Yes. I think the best way to charac-
terize the business is, it’s Ontario Air Ambulance, or 
Ornge, and everyone thinks in a 911 type of mindset—
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but there really isn’t. The business has two dynamics. It 
has that—in the field, it’s called a code 4—immediate 
threat to life and limb that needs to be actioned now. That 
happens on scene calls, and that happens in inter-facility 
transfers where a nursing station or a hospital that has a 
lower capability than a trauma centre or a specialty 
centre—a patient starts going sideways, if you will. That 
patient needs to be moved immediately, urgently, to a 
higher level of care. 

Those are the high-risk environments. Those are the 
environments where, intuitively, you want to make sure 
your resources are available. Those are the environments 
where a dedicated model where they do nothing but 
service that comes into play. 

It becomes risky, from my perspective, if you put that 
in the hands of a charter operator. They’ve all sat here 
and said that some of them are exclusive, some of them 
aren’t. But even the exclusive ones aren’t available 24/7, 
necessarily. So there’s a risk mitigation that needs to be 
considered. 

Ms. Helena Jaczek: In other words, the model that 
we have now, where Ornge does operate their own cap-
acity and is essentially doing the on-scene exclusively, is 
a fail-safe for the system. Because again, we heard accus-
ations of overcapacity in the Ornge side of the— 

Mr. Ted Rabicki: Admittedly, today, absolutely 
there’s overcapacity. Roll the clocks back and you nor-
malize and you say, on a dedicated basis, when Voyageur 
was in service, they had four King Air 200s servicing the 
dedicated fixed-wing portion of the business. There was a 
pair in Sioux Lookout and a pair in Timmins. Then as I 
mentioned, with the PCI success in Thunder Bay, it made 
sense to invest. So we went to a model where arguably 
six aircraft, using that Voyageur philosophy, would be 
adequate. 

I think many people sat here, many SA carriers—and I 
will support that philosophy. Why 10 aircraft were pur-
chased—there were no valid business reasons, there was 
no long-term strategy to use those aircraft, aside from 
perhaps a peripheral notion that maybe on the inter-
national side or something. I’ve heard, and it was swirled 
around the organization, that there was 25% unserviced 
demand in terms of patient movements, and that’s what 
that capacity was there for. But it’s hard to grasp what 
doesn’t happen or what’s not there. 

Ms. Helena Jaczek: In your time over the last couple 
of years with Ornge actually having the capacity that it 
did, did you make any recommendations to senior man-
agement as to what kind of mix you saw would be ideal 
or right to cover the 20,000 or so transfers in Ontario? 

Mr. Ted Rabicki: Yes, in the sense that I think man-
agement knows—and I understand Andy is coming. I 
would be surprised if he sat here and said, “No, we got it 
right. That’s the right number of machines.” They know 
it’s not the right number of machines, and I know they’re 
looking at it. 

They’re looking at the key elements of the business, 
elements like mission profile—so what should a helicop-
ter be used for? Base locations, the type of resources that 

are in play, because the aging helicopters—the Sikorskys, 
the S-76s—that’s not a long-term play. There needs to be 
a decision made. What are we going to do with that, and 
how are we going to service those markets? What’s the 
right machine, and what do we do with this surplus cap-
acity? 

I did bring to previous management—so this is pre-
Andy McCallum, pre-Ron McKerlie—the notion of, 
look, if we’ve got these extra aircraft, let’s give them to 
the SAs. Let them fly them. They can staff them; they 
can put the medics on. That’s a good-news story for the 
province. Let’s improve our asset utilization. But there 
was a fear of abuse, and we even took it to the point of 
“We’ll do the maintenance on them. We’ll keep them 
close to our bases so our personnel can keep an eye on 
them.” No, there was no appetite for that. 

Ms. Helena Jaczek: By “abuse,” you mean that the 
standing carrier might use them for other purposes? 

Mr. Ted Rabicki: Yes, or fly them the wrong way— 
Ms. Helena Jaczek: Fishing or— 
Mr. Ted Rabicki: —or “drive it like it’s a rental,” if 

you will. 
Ms. Helena Jaczek: Okay. So you had brought that 

forward to the previous regime and it wasn’t listened to. 
Mr. Ted Rabicki: No. 
Ms. Helena Jaczek: And you’re aware that this type 

of logical mission profile etc. is being undertaken. 
Mr. Ted Rabicki: Absolutely. It is a complex busi-

ness, to say the least. I know Andy has a huge task in 
front of him, because stakeholder effects—it’s not just, 
“Okay, we want the machine to do this;” it’s the markets 
that we interact with, the patients, the hospitals, the com-
munities and the overall end-to-end process—huge, huge; 
absolutely huge. 

Ms. Helena Jaczek: I will reserve whatever time we 
have left. 

The Chair (Mr. Norm Miller): Very good. We’ll 
move to the opposition. Mr. Klees. 

Mr. Frank Klees: Mr. Rabicki, thanks for being here. 
I’d like to just pursue the role that you were playing as 

the liaison with the standing offer contractors, the oper-
ators, and I want to focus on the compliance aspect of 
those agreements. We’ve seen the RFPs, the request for 
proposals, that went out. They’re very comprehensive in 
terms of the standard of equipment that must be in the 
aircraft, everything from the width of doors, if you will—
I don’t have to tell you; they’re extensive. Whose respon-
sibility was it to ensure that the operators were compliant 
with all of the standards as set out in the request for 
proposal and, ultimately, in the agreement that you 
signed with them? 

Mr. Ted Rabicki: At a large level, I would say Ornge. 
At an individual level, was there a compliance depart-
ment specifically? No. Were there oversight departments, 
like a safety division that looked at irregularities in 
flying? Yes. Did we do random inspections contrary to 
what the SA carriers said? We did up until 2011. We 
would ramp the aircraft. So if we had safety personnel 
that conducted—we called them spontaneous ramp 
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checks. In fact, I think when this hearing started, that 
information was requested and provided—a copy of the 
ramp checks or at least a summary of what machines 
were ramped where. So that information is available. Did 
we do it? Yes. Did we fall off the right path since 2011? 
Possibly. 
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There are formal ways of ensuring compliance—with 
scheduled, documented inspections—but there’s a lot of 
informal feedback that comes. Our medics participate 
regularly on a lot of this equipment out there, and if they 
see things that are off, we hear about it—I hear about it. 
They complain about it. They refuse to get on the 
aircraft. Other carriers will note things where perhaps in-
terpretation is being pushed to the limit, and it’s investi-
gated. 

I think I understand where you’re going. It’s probably 
not as formal as it could be. I think that’s an item that 
needs to be decided upon and examined. 

Mr. Frank Klees: You’ve probably made yourself 
familiar with previous hearings— 

Mr. Ted Rabicki: Yes. 
Mr. Frank Klees: —and you’ll know that one of the 

areas that I’m particularly concerned about is the area of 
compliance and accountability. I’m particularly con-
cerned about what I just heard you say, and that was that, 
up until 2011, you felt that the compliance mechanisms 
were in place and that, since 2011, they’ve fallen off. Did 
I hear you correctly? 

Mr. Ted Rabicki: Yes, you heard me correctly. The 
context around that is the element of spontaneous inspec-
tions—random ramp checks on the airplanes. I don’t be-
lieve we’ve done that in the last couple of years. We have 
put in play, as I’m sure the committee has heard, the 
Argus audits, where an independent contractor goes and 
audits the operation. If there’s any cause for concern—in 
terms of Transport Canada reporting through the 
CADORS system, for example, or any incident—the 
contract states that the carriers are to identify any unusual 
incidents or occurrences that happen in their operation. 
That gets forwarded to our safety department, and they 
will investigate the event. 

Mr. Frank Klees: What concerns me about that is 
that, given the history and given the track record and the 
number of incidents that we’ve had, I would have 
thought that, under the new management, if there was 
one area where there would be a real focus, it would be 
on inspection, follow-up and ensuring compliance. As 
you say, Dr. McCallum will be here later, and certainly I 
will pursue that with him, because I’m disappointed in 
what I’m hearing. That’s not your issue; that’s Dr. 
McCallum’s issue and the issue of the current executive. 

If it is as you say, why would the standing agreement 
providers, one after the other, come forward on sworn 
testimony and tell us that those compliance audits were 
not being done—that there were not the spontaneous 
checks; that there weren’t the fly-alongs, if you will; and 
that they wouldn’t hear from anyone from Ornge? Why 
the contradictory evidence? 

Mr. Ted Rabicki: Excellent question. I guess we can 
summons the evidence and examine it. If there is docu-
mentation that is signed off and dated that says, “I’m an 
individual who went out and inspected an aircraft on this 
date and put my hand to that piece of paper,” then that’s 
something that I think we need to investigate. 

Mr. Frank Klees: So that is something that should be 
on file? 

Mr. Ted Rabicki: I believe it is, yes. I remember, 
when this committee started, the vibration that went into 
Ornge, the amount of data that was summonsed, and I 
remember seeing the guys pull those reports together. 
They wanted the binder of ramp checks; they wanted to 
see. 

Mr. Frank Klees: It’s interesting that you mention 
that, because I’ve had some emails from some of the pro-
viders saying that, after Mr. Cox’s testimony here, when 
we questioned him about whether or not he has the 
TAWS installed—and he testified that as of midnight the 
night of his testimony, he would probably be taken out of 
service because he’s at the end of his 180-day grace 
period. Apparently, Ornge—someone by the name of 
Allison from Ornge made calls to all of the standing offer 
suppliers asking if they have TCAS and TAWS in place. 
That, in itself, I find somewhat disconcerting because 
why wouldn’t Allison know whether or not an operator 
has this equipment functioning when in fact it was part of 
the agreement? What am I missing here? 

Mr. Ted Rabicki: I think I would answer it this way: 
In my mind, oversight can be akin to overhead, and 
there’s a cost to overhead. When a businessperson signs 
off on a contract and says that they rep and warrant that 
they will comply, there is an element of professionalism 
and business trust that they will deliver that. Are there 
loopholes? Absolutely. We mandate in the RFP that the 
aircraft must have an autopilot system. And in that same 
RFP, we say how the machine is flown is entirely up to 
the operator. To me, I can say, “Yes, I bought a car with 
cruise control on it,” but no one’s going to tell me when 
I’m driving that I have to use the cruise control. 

Mr. Frank Klees: But that is a different issue, isn’t it? 
The cruise control had better be in the car if it’s part of 
the contract. 

Mr. Ted Rabicki: Yes. 
Mr. Frank Klees: And as I understand it, you re-

quired autopilot to be on the aircraft as standard equip-
ment. That was a condition of the contract. 

Mr. Ted Rabicki: Yes, as was TAWS— 
Mr. Frank Klees: As was TAWS. 
Mr. Ted Rabicki: Yes. 
Mr. Frank Klees: And we have testimony that cer-

tainly in the case of Mr. Cox, he didn’t have it. Now he 
testified that he was at the end of his 180 days. Fortunat-
ely, we had him in here on the 180th day. 

Mr. Ted Rabicki: Yes. 
Mr. Frank Klees: And we asked him the question, 

and I’m not sure what would have happened if he wasn’t 
here. But here’s my point: This wasn’t his first contract. 

Mr. Ted Rabicki: No, it wasn’t. 
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Mr. Frank Klees: Right. So the TAWS requirement 
was in four previous contracts, and he was never required 
to comply with that. Now I’m going to be a little bit—
don’t take this personally. 

Mr. Ted Rabicki: I won’t. 
Mr. Frank Klees: I’m trying to get a handle on who 

does what and who has responsibility for—and I agree 
with you that oversight is an overhead cost, but the cost 
of not doing the oversight is the loss of lives potentially, 
especially in the business we’re in here, right? 

Mr. Ted Rabicki: Yes. 
Mr. Frank Klees: As the individual who is the liaison 

with the standing agreement providers, would it not have 
fallen to you, as the individual within Ornge, to ensure 
that when you sign these people to a contract and you are 
the liaison—at the very least one of the people within 
Ornge who would have had the responsibility to ensure 
compliance would be yourself? 

Mr. Ted Rabicki: That’s a pretty tall order, Mr. 
Klees. It’s a 111-page RFP document. For one human to 
ensure that every criteria is met across 20 aircraft and 
half a dozen operators—I think that’s a pretty tall order. 

Mr. Frank Klees: You have a pretty impressive CV. 
Mr. Ted Rabicki: I’m one human. 
Mr. Frank Klees: One human being—let me suggest 

something to you. Maybe I’m oversimplifying. I’m not 
an aviator either. 

Mr. Ted Rabicki: Yes. 
Mr. Frank Klees: I have a spent a lot of time on this 

committee. 
Mr. Ted Rabicki: Yes, you have. 
Mr. Frank Klees: And I think I could probably craft a 

letter to my five standing agreement providers saying, 
“Here are the critical requirements that we have had of 
you under our agreement. I want you to sign off on this 
and confirm with me that this equipment is in place and 
functioning. By the way, I’m going to be taking a field 
trip for the next five days, and I’m going to visit you at 
your base. I expect a tour of your equipment to confirm 
that what you’ve written off in your letter here is, in fact, 
in place.” 
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I don’t think that’s a superhuman calling at all. I think 
that’s a fairly straightforward expectation that I think 
would be respected by the people I’m doing business 
with. I think it would have been a great transaction for 
you to report to the board of directors, that this is in 
place. What am I missing? Why do you feel that is such a 
high calling? 

Mr. Ted Rabicki: Well, a couple of things. I think the 
first part that you alluded to, a separate letter: From my 
perspective, there isn’t a need for a separate letter. We 
have the contract. 

Mr. Frank Klees: All right, so we save that amount 
of time. 

Mr. Ted Rabicki: Yes. 
Mr. Frank Klees: How about the site visit? 
Mr. Ted Rabicki: Well, candidly, would I know 

TAWS if I were looking at TAWS? No. 

Mr. Frank Klees: Do you have an engineer in Ornge 
who would? 

Mr. Ted Rabicki: Absolutely. 
Mr. Frank Klees: How about taking that person with 

you and making a two-person visit? 
Mr. Ted Rabicki: Fair enough. Now, I think what I’ll 

admit is maybe we didn’t go back and retroactively look 
at all the machinery, but any aircraft that was added to 
the roster was inspected, to be compliant with the specifi-
cation sheet. 

Mr. Frank Klees: So you understand the concern that 
we hear from the operators. You have some who are 
bidding into a contract, who are compliant with all of the 
standards that you require in the agreement. 

Now, they’re bidding against people who haven’t 
spent—I don’t know—the $100,000, the $20,000, the 
$80,000, whatever it is, to ensure that their equipment is 
compliant. Now you have a very un-level playing field, 
and, quite frankly, I think you have also a very different 
level of quality, if I can use that term, in terms of the 
performance indicators that you would be measuring. 

I can understand why the operators out there would be 
very frustrated with that un-level playing field. Would 
you agree? 

Mr. Ted Rabicki: I agree, yes. 
Mr. Frank Klees: So you’re gone now. Who at Ornge, 

in today’s environment, in today’s structure, should 
assume responsibility to ensure that level playing field 
and to ensure the compliance with all of those standards? 

Mr. Ted Rabicki: It could be anyone. We have a 
safety department. They go out and do routine inspec-
tions when there’s an issue. We could leverage that. We 
could leverage our base managers. A lot of these carriers 
are collocated. I guess there are options. But I’m not in a 
position to pick a name at this point. I’m sure, as Allison 
has been calling to validate, that your tactics will be 
effective in getting some action on this. 

Mr. Frank Klees: I’ll save my time. Thank you very 
much. 

Mr. Ted Rabicki: You’re welcome. 
The Chair (Mr. Norm Miller): Well, we’ll go to the 

NDP. You have three minutes left. Ms. Forster. 
Ms. Cindy Forster: Thanks. I just want to follow up 

on what Frank actually started there about the compli-
ance piece, because we did have Transport Canada here 
this morning about their oversight responsibilities. There 
seems now, with this line of questions, that there is a gap 
there of some sort. 

When we’re actually dealing with patients’ lives—
we’re not dealing with picking up garbage, like waste 
management, or other things that we do publicly in com-
munities—it would seem to me that there should be some 
more oversight, if there isn’t, within that organization. 
How does Ornge go about actually making sure that that 
happens? And I heard you, that it can’t be one person. 
One person cannot be responsible for the oversight of 
five or six carriers and 20,000 patients a year. But does 
there need to be a department or a team of people that 
actually takes on that responsibility? 
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Mr. Ted Rabicki: That could be one solution, abso-
lutely. 

I will say this, though: There’s sort of three layers in 
play here. There’s the baseline, which is the Transport 
Canada standard, and there’s enforcement and oversight 
on that federally. To the extent that Argus mimics that 
piece, Argus goes in and looks at that. Then there’s a 
second layer of safety, which is the MNR standards. The 
Ministry of Natural Resources sets the standards for 
operators that work on government business. That holds 
the flight crews to a higher level of experience—Ornge 
has oversight on that—to make sure that we have above-
average experience flying the aircraft. Frankly, the 
TAWS and these extra collision-avoidance systems—the 
next generation would have been, I think, a WAAS sys-
tem—that were planned and put on the aircraft were Rick 
Potter’s idea. In his mind, that would raise the bar. As 
Paul Cox said, it’s not guaranteed that it will improve 
safety; it’s an add-on, and it may not apply in some cases. 
It’s extra. 

With all of that being said, I guess at this point, we 
will put that on the to-do list for the current management 
to make a decision on. Is it necessary? Do they support 
the previous management’s philosophy that this is a 
value add in this arena? And if it is, do we want to take 
action to ensure that that’s part of the operating model? 

Ms. Cindy Forster: Thank you. 
The Chair (Mr. Norm Miller): Very well. We’ll go 

to the government. You have two minutes left. 
Mr. Bill Mauro: Mr. Rabicki, thank you for being 

here today. 
The questions that were asked were very serious ques-

tions and very important questions, those related to 
safety. The question I was going to ask I think you’ve 
actually just answered, but I think it’s important enough 
that it bears repeating. 

Your tender process: You’ve just characterized the 
TAWS—and if I’m misinterpreting your interpretation of 
it, correct me when you answer—as an add-on, not ne-
cessarily enhancing safety. Maybe it does; maybe it 
doesn’t. Your answer seems to imply we don’t really 
know if it does, but Mr. Potter decided to add this into 
the tender. So it gets added into the tender. Your tender 
then, when they sign off, they’ve already agreed to have 
that, notwithstanding another letter that would ask them 
to do the same thing that their tender has already done. 

Nav Canada—and I asked the fellows this morning 
when they were here, the two gentlemen this morning—
has the authority to ground the plane. 

Mr. Ted Rabicki: Absolutely. 
Mr. Bill Mauro: So your tender asks for a particular 

piece of safety equipment which, as I think you’ve just 
said, you don’t know if it makes things any better or not, 
but Mr. Potter in his mind felt it did. Your tender asks for 
it. Nav Canada shows up. They investigate those aircraft 
and they know that this piece of equipment is not on the 
plane or the helicopter, yet Nav Canada is letting these 
people be airborne. 

Again, as another one around the room who’s not an 
aviator, I would assume that in the opinion of Nav Can-
ada—their characterization of this piece of equipment 
would likely approximate your response, that being, “We 
didn’t have it for the previous 100 years. We don’t 
necessarily feel it’s enhancing safety”—or certainly they 
don’t feel that it’s a requirement to make these operators 
fly more safely. 

If I’m wrong, I want to know I’m wrong, and hope-
fully you’ll tell me that, because if something is missing 
here when it comes to safety, it’s important that we know 
about it. 

Nav Canada has chosen not to ground these planes. 
They don’t have it. I’m interested in your— 

Mr. Ted Rabicki: Let me answer it this way, and I’ll 
try to be brief. The organization that sets the standard for 
air operations for the province of Ontario is the Ministry 
of Natural Resources. It’s not on their list of requisite 
equipment. 

The Chair (Mr. Norm Miller): Very well. Thank 
you—and I think you meant Transport Canada there, 
didn’t you, Bill? 

Mr. Bill Mauro: Thank you, Chair. 
The Chair (Mr. Norm Miller): Yes. We’ll move to 

Mr. Klees for your last four minutes. 
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Mr. Frank Klees: Four minutes? 
The Chair (Mr. Norm Miller): Yes. 
Mr. Frank Klees: Okay. Thank you. 
I’d just like to go back to that conflict-of-interest issue 

with the dispatch centre that you were engaged in with 
Mr. Cox—Mackie; Mr. Mackie, right? 

Mr. Ted Rabicki: Mr. Mackie. Correct, yes. 
Mr. Frank Klees: At length, Mr. Mackie testified 

how his business went down. He was concerned about it, 
heard that there was someone who was working for—I 
believe it was Air Bravo— 

Mr. Ted Rabicki: Correct. 
Mr. Frank Klees: —and at the same time working in 

the dispatch centre. He brought it to your attention. You 
said you were going to look into it. 

When you said you were going to look into it, what 
exactly did you do? 

Mr. Ted Rabicki: The first thing I did was to validate 
the dispatch algorithms. It’s a mathematical model to 
make sure that the most current information is in there. I 
had one of our analysts run it, in the event that it was a 
legitimate glitch, if you can call it that. The two systems 
that they use came back and validated, no: They think 
they were functioning properly. 

So I went downstairs and said to management that 
there appeared to be a human intervention happening 
here. While I didn’t have any evidence, it appeared that 
there was this conflict going on, and I brought it to the 
OCC, the director’s attention, and let our senior manage-
ment know as well—because the way these algorithms 
work, they have visibility on competitive pricing in them. 
I was concerned that there was an integrity threat here, 
that if an individual was working for a given vendor, he 
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would have the full price suite available, which com-
promises the competitive nature of this marketplace. 

It appears—I didn’t loop back with the OCC direc-
tor—that there was an intervention of sorts and things 
went back on track. The conflict of interest is noted at 
our legal counsel’s level—and, like I said, I heard periph-
erally that the outcome was yet to make a decision on the 
employee. The employee needed to make a decision on 
which company he would stay with. 

Mr. Frank Klees: I heard about that; you mentioned 
that. What confuses me about that—and we’ll follow it 
up with Dr. McCallum—but if in fact that employee al-
ready has had access to that information, to even give the 
employee at that point in time an option to do either I 
would think is not a very good management decision. But 
we’ll hear from Dr. McCallum, I’m sure. He’s here, and 
we’ll hear from him next. 

Here’s my last question to you: In retrospect, given the 
experience that we’ve had with Ornge, apart from the 
financial mess that we have on our hands, still the most 
significant issues that we have as a legacy here are the 
number of times Ornge was not able to respond appropri-
ately, on time. We have the referrals to the coroner of 
lives lost in cases where the inability of Ornge to respond 
in a timely manner may or may not have contributed to 
those deaths in one way or another. But that is a legacy 
that we have to deal with. 

If there was one recommendation that you would have 
in terms of going forward on how to prevent those—and 
I know you can’t prevent every error, but structurally, 
what change would you recommend be made to the sys-
tem that would be in the patient’s interest and efficiency 
of operation? 

Mr. Ted Rabicki: I’ll pick up on what you said. The 
answer is really simple: There needs to be a very crisp 
and understood, defined standard for air ambulance oper-
ations where it is really air ambulance. Where it is an 
emergency, there needs to be an appropriate emergency 
response standard. With all due respect, what’s docu-
mented today in the performance agreement is way too 
loose. The answer is simple. It lies before us in other 
EMS types of services. The land ambulances have very 
discrete milestones on response to cardiac patients and 
coverage and time to patient. The fire department has 
metrics on breadth and depth of response in a time-
sensitive manner. Take that and bake something that 
becomes a standard for the air service. The front-line 
people will understand it, the carriers will understand it, 
the employees will understand it, and overall, you’ll be 
on a path for a better system. 

Mr. Frank Klees: Very helpful. Thank you. 
The Chair (Mr. Norm Miller): Thanks for coming 

before the committee. We appreciate it. 

ORNGE 
The Chair (Mr. Norm Miller): Dr. McCallum, wel-

come back to the committee. I think you’re the last 
presenter, as far as I know. 

Mr. Frank Klees: We’ll see. 
The Chair (Mr. Norm Miller): We’ll see. You’ve al-

ready been before the committee. You’ve already sworn 
a past oath, so just remember that that is in place. You 
have 10 minutes for an opening statement, and then we’ll 
go to questioning. 

Dr. Andrew McCallum: Thank you, Mr. Chair. 
Members of the committee, I thank you for the opportun-
ity to speak with you once again. Much has happened 
since my last appearance before the Standing Committee 
on Public Accounts seven months ago. I sincerely hope 
our collaboration with the committee over this period has 
been helpful. 

We welcomed committee members, at Mr. Klees’s 
suggestion, to our head office in Mississauga for a tour 
and a presentation. Our staff has gone to considerable 
effort to fill the committee’s requests for information. In 
doing so, I am confident that we are demonstrating action 
on our commitment to transparency and oversight. Your 
insights are valuable to us, and we look forward to seeing 
your final report. 

When we first met, I indicated to you that it had been 
a challenging time for the 600 paramedics, pilots, com-
munications officers, physicians, aircraft maintenance 
engineers and head office staff. Since that time, as every-
body knows, the organization suffered an unspeakable 
loss when four members of the 7793 Ornge Moosonee 
crew died when their air ambulance helicopter crashed 
shortly after takeoff en route to transport a patient. These 
men—Capt. Don Filliter, First Officer Jacques Dupuy, 
flight paramedic Dustin Dagenais and flight paramedic 
Chris Snowball—died in the service of Ontario, and we 
will always remember their sacrifice. 

As difficult a time as this has been, I continue to be 
impressed by the resilience of our staff. Our Moosonee 
base recently resumed operations on a 12/7 basis and will 
be returning to 24/7 operation next week. I’m proud of 
our Moosonee team members and their dedication to the 
patients of the James Bay community. I also wish to 
thank our staff in other bases as well as our partners at 
James Bay Ambulance, who worked diligently through 
this period to ensure that patient transport was delivered 
professionally and to the best of their ability. 

The transportation safety board investigation into the 
accident continues, and we are co-operating fully. We 
want to emphasize that we are not waiting for the report 
to look at ways to make our operation safer. 

One special area of focus is our helicopter night 
operations. We’ve been looking at this issue for some 
time, actually, predating the accident. A number of steps 
have been taken in this area. Pilots have been undergoing 
formal continued flight into terrain or CFIT training 
before they file IFR, or instrument flight rules, flight 
plans. In fact, I’m told that, as of today, about 95% of the 
pilots have completed that training, which means they 
can resume those flights. Our rotor division is updating 
the standard operating procedures with respect to night 
operations, and training is under way on all these revised 
SOPs. 
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A specific area of concentration has been black hole 
helipads, which are typically at remote sites with little 
cultural lighting in the area. For several months, we’ve 
been trialling the use of solar lights at the three busiest of 
these helipads, accounting for about 60% of the trips. The 
response from pilots has been uniformly positive. As a 
result, we’ve begun a project that will see these lights 
installed at approximately 90 currently unlit sites across 
the province. This should be viewed as a waypoint on the 
journey, not a destination, as we look at other man-
oeuvres to make—and enhance—operations even safer. 

I understand that the committee is interested in dis-
cussing how standing agreement carriers fit into the air 
ambulance system in Ontario. Standing agreement 
carriers, or SA carriers, as you’ve come to know them, 
are private air carriers that deliver primary care and 
advanced care ambulance services under contract to 
Ornge. They perform nearly half of the 18,000 transports 
that we do per year. Needless to say, they play a vital 
role, particularly in northern Ontario, where, in many 
cases, an aircraft is the only means of moving a patient. 
The request for proposals for SA carriers was conducted 
in an open and transparent process that meets broader 
public sector procurement guidelines. In addition, we 
have an open door policy, as you’ve heard from some 
witnesses, with the representatives of these companies. 
Any specific concerns that they have they can bring 
forward to us, and they will be addressed in a timely 
fashion. In some cases, when warranted, we will ask a 
third party to conduct an investigation, and you have, I 
believe, heard testimony from the carrier representatives 
to that effect. 
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Under the performance agreement, Ornge is mandated 
to ensure that SA carriers meet the aviation requirements 
of the Canada Transportation Agency, Transport Canada 
and the government of Ontario through MNR’s operation 
standards. An internationally recognized firm, Argus, 
conducts audits for us annually of the SA carriers. Any 
outstanding deficiencies are identified by Argus, and the 
carrier produces a corrective action plan to each finding 
that must satisfy the auditor. 

Nonetheless, there’s always room for improvement in 
our processes, and we are actively looking at additional 
measures that should be taken to ensure that our carriers 
are held to the highest standards of safety and quality. 
This is a responsibility we take seriously. There are a 
number of specific improvements under way which I 
would like to share with you. 

We continue to break with the past by dealing with 
certain legacy issues tied to previous leadership at Ornge. 
A few months ago, we completed the sale of two surplus 
AW139 helicopters that had been in storage and were not 
required for patient care. In addition, we sold a hangar in 
Oshawa that no longer fits in the organization’s plans. In 
dealing with these legacy issues, we are demonstrating a 
commitment to using taxpayer dollars wisely and provid-
ing value for money. 

On the operations side, the implementation of a new 
computer-aided dispatch system, or CAD, as it’s com-

monly known, is under way. This has been a top priority 
in order to more effectively dispatch our crews and im-
prove our ability to gather data and information. 

We continue to make recruitment a top priority and 
are working on plans to ensure we meet, on a more con-
sistent basis, the level of care required in our vehicles. 
Beyond these day-to-day improvements, our focus is 
firmly on the future. 

When I was here in March, I told you about three chal-
lenges we faced. I told you that we needed to focus our 
activities, and we’ve made great strides in that regard, in 
that we’ve concentrated our operations and divested our-
selves of assets that are not useful. 

I told you of our need to develop a strategic plan. Last 
month, we invited external stakeholders, all of our union 
leaders and management to come together to discuss and 
debate the central issues we face. The strategic planning 
exercise has been entirely inclusive, and our discussions 
generated some healthy debate. In broad strokes, there 
were three areas of focus: first, increasing transports that 
improve patient outcomes; second, improving the inte-
gration of the transport and transfer process; and third—
and this speaks to the third challenge that I outlined in 
March—devising an appropriate financial plan to ensure 
viability and recognize cost drivers. The draft strategic 
plan will soon go before our board of directors and ultim-
ately will go the Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care 
for their opportunity to comment. This plan is essential to 
mapping out the future of Ontario’s air ambulance system. 

We also recently announced our new base man-
agement structure and base staffing model. The new 
structure will ensure bases are locally managed, with 
managers being responsible for all staff and operations at 
the base level, in contrast to before, when we didn’t have 
that management structure. 

We have retained several excellent Ornge staff and 
been able to recruit a number of well-qualified candidates 
from both aviation and the military to fulfill these roles. 

In closing, I want to say that I believe we’re on the 
cusp of doing some really good things. I think, as you’ve 
heard in the testimony of the last while, change does take 
time, and we still have some issues that we’ll manage. 

As we move forward, we are impatient, but we want to 
make—and we are making—steady progress. I ask that 
we be afforded the latitude to make the necessary im-
provements, with the goal of providing the best possible 
care and transport to all of Ontario’s patients. Thank you. 

The Chair (Mr. Norm Miller): Thank you. We’ll go 
to the government: Ms. Jaczek. 

Ms. Helena Jaczek: Thank you for the update, Dr. 
McCallum. Yes, it has been many months since we heard 
from you originally and from the time we visited Ornge 
in Mississauga. We have heard from many, many wit-
nesses, as you know. 

I think I’ll start in terms of the relationship with the 
Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care. This is pretty 
fundamental to what we know went wrong under the pre-
vious management of Ornge. Can you just give us an 
overview of your relationship to officials at the oversight 
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branch and your staff’s interaction with them so that we 
can be assured that they are monitoring the quality im-
provement plan and whatever other items you have that 
you discuss with them? Could you just give us an 
overview of what that relationship looks like? 

Dr. Andrew McCallum: Certainly. Well, the struc-
ture as it’s currently constituted is one where the ADM 
responsible for us has a director who reports to her: the 
director of the emergency health services branch. That 
person also holds the title of director of the air ambulance 
oversight branch. Under the director are a number of 
personnel who are policy advisers, who speak with my 
staff more than daily—several times a day. We provide a 
daily report. We provide statistics to them on an ongoing 
basis. We have a monthly meeting in which we explore 
issues of mutual interest in depth, with members of the 
ministry and members of my staff present, chaired by 
myself and/or the ADM responsible. 

We have much more frequent conversations than that 
on issues that arise from time to time. 

We have a budgetary process that involves full trans-
parency and discussion of the financial situation as it 
currently exists. 

The ministry was invited to provide input in the stra-
tegic planning exercise and of course will be invited to 
comment on the strategic plan as it develops more fully. 

So it’s a close working relationship. There’s no ques-
tion that they are the regulator and the overseer, but we 
have a free exchange of information. I would say that it is 
a completely different relationship than what I under-
stand existed previously. 

Ms. Helena Jaczek: Further to that, obviously we’ve 
had the opportunity to review some of the metrics 
provided to us by Richard Jackson, the director of the 
oversight branch. I suppose we noticed that progress 
towards some of your goals in terms of staffing with 
appropriate level of care for the paramedics, availability 
of pilots and so on was slow. In other words, the training 
that you’ve undertaken and so on has not yet reached its 
full potential. Can you just give us an update on when we 
can expect to see some improvements in terms of staff 
availability at the right level of training? 

Dr. Andrew McCallum: Well, I’m like you; I’m 
impatient. I wanted this to be dealt with literally yester-
day, because it’s something that, of all the things that I’m 
concerned about—there is a concern, as you know, being 
a leader, in any situation. But what worries me a great 
deal is that we don’t meet the level-of-care commitment 
that we’re meant to meet. 

What that really relates to is two things. One is, to 
some extent, the availability of appropriately qualified 
personnel who are in our employ now, for a variety of 
reasons. The second is that the pipeline to train them is 
not efficient at the present time. So it’s such a considera-
tion for me that I’ve pushed hard to make it one of our 
major strategic goals. We have a goal to have the appro-
priate level of care undertaken within 12 to 18 months— 

Ms. Helena Jaczek: From now? 
Dr. Andrew McCallum: From now. The challenge is 

that it will require some fairly aggressive action on both 

the part of the management and the union. We’ll need co-
operation from our collective bargaining partners. We’re 
eagerly pursuing that, and we’ll get to where we need to 
get to. If we can’t get there, then I’m going to be open to 
looking at other models that would satisfy the need to 
have critical-care level of care in our air ambulances, 
because that’s what’s required. 

Ms. Helena Jaczek: You were telling us previously 
about accelerated training programs and so on. Along the 
way to 12 to 18 months, is there an interim step where 
we’ll have some improvement? 

Dr. Andrew McCallum: There is. We’ve got a pilot 
project under way with one of the community colleges. 
I’m not sure how far down the road it is, so I won’t say 
the name, but we have a pilot project for them to train 
advanced-care-paramedic flight, entry-level people. 
That’s a very big thing for us because it means that we 
would be able to hire people and have them, after 
appropriate certification by the base hospital, work on 
our aircraft in tandem with a critical-care paramedic, and 
that aircraft would be at the critical-care level. So the 
mixture of CCP and ACP allows us to get the airplane to 
critical-care level of care and meet that obligation for that 
aircraft. 

So we’re very optimistic—Bruce Farr, who is our spe-
cial adviser for paramedic operations, spearheaded a lot 
of this—that we’ll be able to expand that program and 
get people in the pipeline more quickly. That’s the 
critical first step. So there’s reason for optimism there. 

Ms. Helena Jaczek: In terms of the redesign of the 
interiors of the AW139s, there was an interim solution 
that, of course, has improved— 

Dr. Andrew McCallum: Correct. 
1400 

Ms. Helena Jaczek: You’re working towards the 
permanent solution. Can you give us some progress? 

Dr. Andrew McCallum: Yes. There’s an RFP that has 
been issued for the provision of the permanent interior in 
the AW139s. It’s still open, I think, until November 15, 
so we’re not sure which proponents will come forward. 
Of course, that’s embargoed at the moment. But I antici-
pate that we will be able to—depending on what the 
ultimate contract is negotiated—it’s going to take us an-
other 12 months to get this done. 

I stress for the committee, though, that the interior we 
have now is a workable interior. It’s functional, but it’s 
not ideal. 

Ms. Helena Jaczek: So in other words, all the design 
work for the new interior has been done? It’s basically 
going out— 

Dr. Andrew McCallum: Well, it would depend on 
who the successful proponent is, how much work has 
been done. 

Ms. Helena Jaczek: Oh, I see. So they’re going to ac-
tually do the design and then— 

Dr. Andrew McCallum: Correct; the engineering and 
design. In an aircraft, any time you modify the aircraft, 
the amount of regulatory change that’s required is 
remarkable—and the oversight. 
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Ms. Helena Jaczek: Right. So you’ve basically done 
a functional specification, and then it’s up to them to 
come back with the way it looks? 

Dr. Andrew McCallum: Correct. 
Ms. Helena Jaczek: Okay. 
Dr. Andrew McCallum: For example, a roll-on/roll-

off stretcher. I think I can say that one of the concerns the 
paramedics continue to have is that they have a sled and 
not a roll-on/roll-off stretcher. 

Ms. Helena Jaczek: Okay. In terms of the standing 
agreement carriers, we obviously heard from them about 
their concern in terms of some of their businesses having 
essentially become far smaller on the air ambulance side. 
Obviously, some of them have diversified into other 
fields. They accuse Ornge of having this excess capacity 
that is sitting there not being used and, I guess, are 
questioning whether Ornge knows how to run a business. 
That was the implication. 

Can you respond in terms of some of these accusations 
and how you might be going about looking at the 
capacity issue? 

Dr. Andrew McCallum: I’ll say two things. One is 
that I think any aviation professional would say that 
having more than one backup for every active airplane is 
more than would be justifiable. Certainly, we’re aware of 
it, and it’s something that’s being studied. It really mat-
ters to us, though, what the strategic plan ultimately leads 
us to, and that’s critical. We would be premature to make 
a decision that these aircraft should be disposed of, for 
example, or moved in some other way, without knowing 
what the organization is intended to look like in the next 
five years. But I would say that if things were to continue 
as they are now, then clearly something would need to be 
done, because those are excess assets. 

Ms. Helena Jaczek: The strategic plan will address 
that? It’s going to the board— 

Dr. Andrew McCallum: It’s a key step. 
Ms. Helena Jaczek: It’s a key step—and then action 

will follow from them? 
Dr. Andrew McCallum: Correct. 
Ms. Helena Jaczek: In terms of, again, the issue of 

negotiation around the standing agreement carriers and 
their discussions with Mr. Rabicki, who we’ve just heard 
from—again, there was some implication that something 
improper occurred around negotiation of price. Mr. 
Rabicki, I think, has certainly been very clear, from his 
perspective, that it was always known to applicants to 
serve as standing agreement carriers that that was part of 
the process and, therefore, nothing improper occurred at 
all. Can you comment at all on that? 

Dr. Andrew McCallum: Well, I can tell you that I 
was very troubled by the comments that were made. I 
will say first of all that I don’t have any direct involve-
ment nor did I have any awareness of the actual nuts and 
bolts of the RFP process as it was stated. I found that 
very troubling, and— 

Ms. Helena Jaczek: This is in reaction to Mr. 
Horwath, from Air Bravo? 

Dr. Andrew McCallum: Exactly. In fact, there’s 
absolutely no truth to it whatsoever. 

However, understanding the process better now, as I 
do, the process is a several-layered process. The first is to 
ask for a price based on volume, and that’s normal. As 
you’d understand, the higher the volume delivered, the 
price ought to be adjusted, based on that. 

That was the second round. In other words, the first 
round’s purpose was, as I understand it, to establish the 
guaranteed number of hours that an operator could get. If 
they were to get more hours, a negotiation would occur to 
see what kind of price could be had for excess hours. I 
think that’s entirely appropriate. It’s written into the RFP 
process. All proponents would have known that. The 
process, as far as I can determine—and this is very im-
portant to me—was entirely above board and entirely 
ethical. 

Ms. Helena Jaczek: Another witness referred to a 
concern related to a conflict of interest where a dispatch-
er preferentially either avoided one standing agreement 
carrier to be dispatched, or dispatched a carrier for whom 
they were employed. There was some allegation that 
there was some improper issue going on with the applica-
tion of the algorithm, and apparently, you were in some 
way involved in sorting that out. Can you explain to us— 

Dr. Andrew McCallum: I had a call from Mr. Bob 
Mackie, the president of Thunder Air, expressing his 
concern that it appeared that the excess hours were not 
being allocated equitably among the carriers. Of course, 
it was the first I’d heard of it, so I undertook to follow up, 
and I spoke with our legal counsel. The decision we took 
was that it would be best to get an external third party to 
audit both the process and also the allocation of the 
excess hours. That’s what’s under way right now, and we 
will certainly be willing to share that once the report is 
back. 

Ms. Helena Jaczek: And it was found that there had 
been a conflict of interest. 

Dr. Andrew McCallum: I haven’t drawn a conclu-
sion. There are a couple of things that you’re talking 
about that are mixed together. The conflict of interest 
with respect to the dispatcher did have some overlap with 
the concern about the excess-hour allegation, but, as I 
understand it, the concern with that particular dispatcher 
was that he was working for one of the carriers while he 
worked for Ornge. He no longer works for a carrier. He 
was told he had to make a choice. 

Ms. Helena Jaczek: Mr. Rabicki referred to some 
conflict-of-interest declarations required— 

Dr. Andrew McCallum: Correct. Every employee is 
required to declare their conflict of interest, if it exists, 
perceived or real, every year. That’s maintained by our 
CAO and general counsel, and he acts on disclosures that 
would cause trouble either as perceived or real conflicts. 

Ms. Helena Jaczek: Apart from that specific allega-
tion related to one particular instance, you’re also 
reviewing the dispatch algorithm. Is that correct? 

Dr. Andrew McCallum: Yes, that’s fair to say. I 
think it’s also fair to say that the air ambulance and heli-
copter EMS is a small community. Where there are 
private carriers, people often work for them during their 
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off-days and off time. As any other employer, we don’t 
have the right to dictate to someone what they do on their 
days off—with certain exceptions in the air environment, 
where duty and crew restrictions come into play—but we 
do have the right to say, “You may not use either position 
to advantage one of the organizations.” That’s the con-
cern. 

Ms. Helena Jaczek: I understand that you have de-
veloped your strategic plan and some things may not be 
fully decided, but could you ever see a day where Ornge 
would dispose of its entire fleet and contract out 100% of 
the business? 

Dr. Andrew McCallum: I can foresee many possibil-
ities, and I wouldn’t discount any particular possibility. 
At the present time, I think it would be premature to 
determine that we would radically change the provision 
of services yet again. 

I would also express a note of caution, in that on the 
land EMS side, actions have been taken in the last 15 
years to consolidate them in the public sector—albeit 
partly in the municipal but partly funded by provincial 
governments—and remove private carriers, and the rea-
son for that is that the standardization of them is very 
difficult. 

There’s also, however, an advantage of having private 
carriers in the mix because of redundancy and the ability 
to—a question, I think, Mr. Mauro asked this morning—
withstand the sudden shutdown of one of the carriers. 

Ms. Helena Jaczek: In other words, you’re saying all 
options are being examined very carefully, and as you 
move forward in your position as the CEO of Ornge, you 
will make the recommendations based on logic and based 
on—we heard the term “mission profile” etc. That is the 
way you see things going forward? 

Dr. Andrew McCallum: That’s fair. We certainly, I 
think, have to do what’s right for the patients of Ontario 
and as good public stewards. Those are the drivers that I 
look at. If the decision leads us towards one particular 
model, then we need to go down that path. 

Ms. Helena Jaczek: I’ll reserve whatever time we 
have left. 

The Chair (Mr. Norm Miller): Very well. We’ll go 
to the opposition. Mr. Klees? 

Mr. Frank Klees: Dr. McCallum, thank you for being 
here again with us. I’d just like to pick up on the dispatch 
issue because we had some discussion with Mr. Rabicki 
on this as well—just to close the loop on it. 

Based on Mr. Rabicki’s testimony, he was contacted, 
he checked things out. According to him, it was deter-
mined that the system itself was functioning properly; 
that it was human intervention; that there was an individ-
ual identified who was working for both Ornge dispatch 
as well as—what was the name of the airline? 

Dr. Andrew McCallum: Air Bravo, I believe. 
Mr. Frank Klees: Air Bravo—and that that individual 

was then given an ultimatum to either choose Air Bravo 
or Ornge. From what I hear you telling me, he chose 
Ornge and he’s now working at Ornge in the dispatch. Is 
that correct? 
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Dr. Andrew McCallum: That’s my information, yes. 
Mr. Frank Klees: I’d just like to pursue that with 

you. I find that somewhat disconcerting because if in fact 
that individual chose to act unethically, which clearly he 
did if he was making decisions in that dispatch centre to 
drive business to one particular carrier, surely that can’t 
qualify as ethical practice within Ornge’s standards. Do 
you agree? 

Dr. Andrew McCallum: Well, your premise is incor-
rect. You’re taking it from the position that it was dem-
onstrated that he assigned aircraft. We didn’t demonstrate 
that, but we did understand that there was a perceived 
conflict of interest, and on that basis, he was told to stop 
his employment. We don’t agree on the premise. Had that 
occurred, I would agree with you, but we didn’t establish 
that. 

Mr. Frank Klees: Okay. So it was just coincidence. 
Dr. Andrew McCallum: I don’t know the details of 

where the allegation arose, but I can tell you that it 
wasn’t established. That’s all I can tell you. 

Mr. Frank Klees: Okay. I’d like to just pursue the 
compliance issue. We spent a considerable amount of 
time with Mr. Rabicki, talking about how the standing 
agreement providers bid into their business and how it is 
subsequently awarded. I understand the subsequent nego-
tiation because that’s part of the deal. They agreed to 
that, so they bid in, and then subsequently there is an 
ongoing negotiation between Ornge and them. 

The concern, however, that I was focusing on with Mr. 
Rabicki is that these agreements are very extensive and 
they contain very specific requirements in terms of the 
equipment that the aircraft must have and the specifica-
tions of the aircraft. A concern that has been expressed to 
us from the providers is that there’s a very unlevel 
playing field; that while some carriers are bidding into 
these agreements and are compliant with the specifica-
tions, others are given the same agreement that contains 
the same requirements but are not enforced. So you have 
a very unlevel playing field, where it costs one carrier a 
certain amount of overhead to be able to comply with 
your agreements; other carriers bid into that business and 
are obviously able to lowball that because they don’t 
have the overhead costs. Mr. Rabicki admitted that Ornge 
does not do a very good job of holding providers up to 
the standard of compliance. We had an example here of 
Mr. Paul Cox, just last week, who, when I asked him if 
he has the TAWS equipment installed, said, “Well, to-
night at midnight I’m out of business.” 

Dr. Andrew McCallum: I heard that. 
Mr. Frank Klees: All right? Then we heard that the 

next day, someone from Ornge was making calls to all 
the other standard-offer providers, asking if they have the 
equipment installed. 

There were two things that concerned me about this. 
Number one is that we had a provider who was flying, 
who had a contract and who didn’t have the equipment 
installed and then had to be taken out of service. The 
question I have is, where is the compliance requirement 
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on the part of Ornge for these providers? It was a particu-
lar concern when I heard back from other carriers saying, 
“We got a call from Ornge asking if we’re compliant.” I 
would have thought that Ornge would know whether or 
not they’re complying. 

I’ll just add this last comment. Mr. Rabicki indicated 
to us here just an hour ago that Ornge was requiring com-
pliance and had a compliance system in place prior to 
2011. In his words, that has actually fallen off since 
2011. I would have thought, given the context of Ornge, 
that if anything, we would have been stronger on the 
compliance side than allowing it to fall off. 

I’d ask you to comment on that. Why are we not doing 
a better job of requiring compliance with the very stan-
dard specifications of the agreement? Why are we not 
following up? What does Ornge intend to do to rectify 
that? 

Dr. Andrew McCallum: It’s a fair question, and I 
would say at the outset that I think it’s a fair criticism as 
well. It’s something that I wasn’t aware of, and it’s some-
thing that I think if you asked me to explain why it 
happened, I can only tell you that the period of turmoil 
that started in 2011 may have had some effect, but be-
yond that, I can’t speculate as to why the ramp check 
frequency would have fallen off. 

What we’ll be doing going forward, though, is, as 
you’ve heard, we’ve hired new base managers who are 
responsible for the entirety of the operation, and one of 
their tasks will be to conduct both announced and unan-
nounced ramp checks of the SA carriers to ensure that 
there is compliance with the contractual requirements. 

Mr. Frank Klees: Okay. You announced a strategic 
planning process a few weeks ago. 

Dr. Andrew McCallum: I did. 
Mr. Frank Klees: I’m interested in that. I know that 

you’ve been following these hearings, and one of the 
fundamental principles that we keep hearing is that per-
haps Ornge should not be in the aviation business, that 
one model that should be considered is to divest itself of 
the aviation side of the business, focus on the health care 
delivery side, focus on the dispatch side and allow com-
panies that have the experience on the aviation side to do 
that part of the business. 

Is your strategic planning exercise open to looking at 
that model, or are you intent on building on Dr. Mazza’s 
scheme? 

Dr. Andrew McCallum: The short answer is yes, 
we’re open to all models. You would know, because I 
know you have a business background, that proper stra-
tegic planning should consider all aspects of what the 
company does and what’s best for the mission that the 
company is trying to achieve. 

One of the considerations in the strategic plan is the 
fleet composition and how it’s operated. We’ll certainly 
be looking at that over the next 12 months or so. 

I would say that I’m agnostic about it at the moment. I 
think that the people who fly for us, the people who work 
on our aircraft, the people who run the aviation side are 
extraordinarily competent. I think it’s one of the un-

intended effects of a process like this: that they’re 
constantly reminded of the past and the challenges that 
were faced, and certainly ongoing challenges, as you’ve 
alluded to already. I say this because I suspect the 
audience is out there. I want them to know that I value 
what they do, that I think that they’re very valuable to the 
province, whether or not they’re working for Ornge, and 
I’m proud to have them working for Ornge at the present 
time. 

But I think that any leader in an organization like this 
has to say that in strategic planning, we should look at all 
options. 

Mr. Frank Klees: I’m encouraged to hear that. 
Mr. Rabicki, also, in his closing comments, made what 

I thought were very helpful comments. When I asked him 
if there was one piece of advice—and you were here to 
hear that— 

Dr. Andrew McCallum: I was. 
Mr. Frank Klees:—it was that the performance 

indicators should be tightened up and very specific in 
terms of the service delivery. He also made reference to 
the fact that the current performance agreement is far too 
loose in terms of the performance indicators that are 
identified there, and we’ve been saying that. Some of us 
have been saying that for some time because we’ve also 
heard that through testimony. 

From that standpoint, I’d like you to comment. Having 
heard what Mr. Rabicki said, your reaction to that and 
what we could expect from Ornge, either through the 
strategic plan or—I mean, that’s something that you can 
move on immediately. 

Dr. Andrew McCallum: Absolutely. KPIs are some-
thing we can move on immediately. Although, remark-
ably, it’s more complex than you would think, and there 
are two parts to the answer. 

I have an enormous amount of respect for Ted; he’s a 
very practical, thoughtful, intelligent guy who has a very 
good understanding of the emergency medical services 
system. He’s right. There do exist useful benchmarks in 
the land ambulance world and the firefighting world. 
Remember, though, that they’re working in two dimen-
sions, not three. They’re working near to base, not far. 
They’re working with one kind of vehicle, not many. So 
there are some challenges, but that—in no way would I 
argue with him that we could have better KPIs. I would 
agree with that entirely, and I think we can work on that. 
1420 

The second complexity, though, is that, remarkably, 
with our current state of information technology at 
Ornge—when I came to Ornge, I was surprised to learn 
that our systems don’t talk to each other very well. This 
is a common failing in complex systems where IT is sort 
of grown by sedimentation, as you know. For example, 
our aviation systems don’t speak well to our dispatch 
systems, and the time synchronization is not what you 
would want. So if you want to measure events that occur 
in minutes and seconds, you need to have time 
synchronizing across the system, as you’d appreciate 
immediately. 
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For example, how long it takes us to get out of that 
base, into the helicopter and on the way to a scene call 
right now is difficult to collect. It won’t be in six months, 
and that’s when a KPI like that will become valid and 
useful. It doesn’t mean we don’t make every effort now 
to improve our shoot time, which is what the firefighters 
call it.Nonetheless, if you said to me, “How confident are 
you in the accuracy of that information?” I couldn’t tell 
you I was confident at the present time, but I will be. If 
this committee is still hearing evidence on this matter, I’d 
be happy to come back and tell you about it. 

Mr. Frank Klees: Okay. How much time do we 
have? 

The Chair (Mr. Norm Miller): You have eight 
minutes. 

Mr. Frank Klees: I’ll save it for a little bit later. 
Thanks. 

The Chair (Mr. Norm Miller): Very well. We’ll go 
to the NDP. Ms. Forster. 

Ms. Cindy Forster: Thanks. Good afternoon, Dr. 
McCallum. 

Dr. Andrew McCallum: Good afternoon. 
Ms. Cindy Forster: In my questions, I want to zone 

in around the issues of contemplation of contracting out 
the entire operation versus contracting, or the public 
sector taking over, the entire operation— 

Dr. Andrew McCallum: So going the other way and 
having everything brought in house. 

Ms. Cindy Forster: Going the other way. My ques-
tion kind of comes from some of the earlier comments, 
but it also comes from my former municipal hat, where 
we contracted out services. Waste management, recyc-
ling, for example, is one area where we had a dozen 
operators in the Niagara region. We had a really good 
level of service from most of them. 

At the end of the day, we end up with one large oper-
ator who puts a lowball bid in the first time and knocks 
the rest of the players out of the field. 

The next time around, the prices are now bumped up 
by millions, and there are no little operators any longer to 
create any competition in that sector. 

I just want to hear your thoughts on that piece. 
Dr. Andrew McCallum: Well, I’ll respond in the 

same way I responded to Mr. Klees’s question, which is 
that I would consider anything that would benefit Ontar-
ians and deliver the service that they need to have 
delivered with the appropriate stewardship. 

I think that you’re right, that you can get into a situa-
tion where a single private provider leads to highballing 
of the price. Of course, that’s the risk of not having more 
than one SA carrier contracted. There’s real value in 
having a number of viable private carriers working for us 
and with us. 

I think that there’s a risk of going to the single public 
service model as well. I mean, there’s always a pro and 
con, as you know, and I wouldn’t say there’s entirely pro 
or con one way or another. But I will say that we would 
look at all the available models, including the current 

one, to see which is the best way to go forward based on 
the strategic plan. 

Ms. Cindy Forster: Now, I know you may not have 
been there at the time, but when the decision moved 
forward to move from total mileage to an hourly kind of 
rate—somebody talked a bit about that today—if the 
volume of hours that are guaranteed increases, the price 
should go down. 

Dr. Andrew McCallum: Volume discount. 
Ms. Cindy Forster: Right, volume discount, but 

we’re talking about patients here; we’re not talking about 
widgets. Is that because these guaranteed hours are some-
times standby hours? 

Dr. Andrew McCallum: Well, yes, that’s fair to say. 
The fact is, as you know, that the cost of the first hour is 
the highest cost they have, and the marginal cost of the 
last hour flown is the least. That’s the reason exactly. So 
if you’re guaranteed 600 hours a year, there are two 
purposes. One is to say what the carrier can expect. The 
second is to allow them to go their bank and obtain letters 
of credit, if they need it. That’s the reason. 

But to your point about patients: We never forget that. 
These are patients. And the patients’ experience is exact-
ly the same, whether or not the hourly rate is different. 

Ms. Cindy Forster: Okay. Now, there was some pre-
vious testimony about Argus, which is a third-party 
auditor. 

Dr. Andrew McCallum: Correct. 
Ms. Cindy Forster: Are you still using Argus? 
Dr. Andrew McCallum: We are. 
Ms. Cindy Forster: And it came up in the testimony 

of Mr. Mackie of Thunder Airlines about a third-party 
audit organization contracted by Ornge offering to spend 
extra time or an extra day auditing Thunder Airlines for a 
platinum rating, and that Argus would charge a fee and a 
monthly payment of $150 for issues associated with 
obtaining a platinum rating. Now, Mr. Mackie said that 
he found that to be “a gross conflict of interest” and he 
forwarded that email to Mr. McKerlie, but he never 
received a reply. So can you comment on the integrity of 
relying on Argus audits? 

Dr. Andrew McCallum: Certainly. As I understand 
it—and I’m not the aviation expert, but I try to make 
myself familiar with all things that matter to the 
organization— 

Ms. Cindy Forster: Right. 
Dr. Andrew McCallum: —Argus is an internationally 

recognized safety audit firm in the aviation business. This 
approach to someone they’re evaluating on behalf of a 
third party, to suggest that they might want to sell them a 
separate service to enhance their rating, which has no 
bearing on the original rating, in our view, is entirely 
inappropriate. I understand that at the time this was made 
known to Mr. McKerlie, there was a communication with 
Argus on two counts: one was to tell them to stop doing 
it and we would not continue to use them if they did it 
any longer; and the second was to the operators, to advise 
them that in no way were they obligated to accept this, 
that it had nothing to do with the rating with us. In fact, it 
doesn’t have anything to do with their rating with us. 
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Ms. Cindy Forster: Does Ornge have any kind of 
quality assurance checks that actually check— 

Dr. Andrew McCallum: What Argus does? 
Ms. Cindy Forster: —Argus’s work? 
Dr. Andrew McCallum: I can’t speak to that, but I 

can undertake to take back to you to find out how we 
check or do quality on the quality assurance people. I’ll 
make a note of that. 

Ms. Cindy Forster: I now want to move to whistle-
blower protection and the provisions for the standard 
agreements. Mr. Cox was here from Wabusk Air, and he 
indicated that in his agreement there were whistle-
blowing provisions included in the contract with Ornge, 
but others noted that it was difficult to complain about an 
organization that is entirely in control of the standard 
agreements business and revenues. I’m wondering if 
whistle-blowing is in all of the agreements with the 
various carriers? 

Dr. Andrew McCallum: I don’t know, but again, I’ll 
find out for you. I can tell you that, as you probably 
know, the whistle-blowing process is well entrenched. 
It’s entirely independent. It’s anonymous, so we would 
not know which air carrier had complained, if that came 
to us, because it comes through an independent third 
party. I can tell you that to date we’ve had no complaints. 

Ms. Cindy Forster: Mr. Rabicki, at the end—I think 
he was asked a question by Mr. Klees that if he could do 
one thing in light of his time at Ornge that would kind of 
improve the system, it was around making sure that you 
have a tighter operating standard, and he referred to 
operating standards for firefighters, for police. 

Dr. Andrew McCallum: Yes. 
Ms. Cindy Forster: Do you have any idea how Ornge 

can actually work on that and improve that for better pa-
tient outcomes? 

Dr. Andrew McCallum: Well, from the operational 
standpoint there’s two things actually, if I could be per-
mitted two. The first is the mission profile. The mission 
profile, which defines how we use the asset to best 
advantage for the patient and match the patient’s needs 
best is number one, because if we do that and get that 
right, we’re going to be able to provide, again, a highly 
efficient, highly responsive service to patients at a time 
they need it. That really is number one. 

The second, then, is to develop measures that would 
allow us to properly understand how we’re doing against 
that process. At the present time, we have throughout the 
province—you’ve heard that there’s unmet need. Part of 
the reason there’s unmet need is because of the oppor-
tunity cost of mismatching vehicles to the patients’ 
needs. For example, we’re not always using the most 
expeditious means to transport; we’re not always using 
the most cost-efficient means to transport, with the 
proviso that there’s the same outcome that occurs; and 
we’re often doing things to facilitate transport that would 
be, in my mind, completely avoidable if we had a more 
organized and integrated system, like moving assets and 
people all over the province to cover parts of the 
province that aren’t covered. 

Ms. Cindy Forster: In the past, there were big rela-
tionship problems between management and employees 
at all levels at Ornge. Can you comment a bit on how that 
has changed? Mr. Rabicki spoke a bit to it, but he hasn’t 
been there for a couple of years. 
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Dr. Andrew McCallum: I think it’s a work in pro-
gress, to be frank. There are pockets where I’d say we’ve 
made good progress, and there are areas where we still 
have work to do. 

The labour relationship is improving overall, I think. 
People understand that the current management is 
entirely focused on doing the right thing and trying to get 
the organization back to the place of respectability that it 
ought to occupy. We are in contract negotiations at the 
present time with a number of our unions, one fairly ad-
vanced. That’s always a challenging time, but we’re 
respectful of their issues and I think they understand 
ours, and we’re working that through. 

I’ve been to all but two of the bases now. It’s surpris-
ingly challenging getting around the province with the 
number of things that have happened. So that’s a goal: to 
get out and meet people. I try to be as available as I can 
be, and I think it’s fairly true of all the execs in the 
organization. I’ve had a number of people come into my 
office, who some of the people around this table have 
seen, and say, “I’ve never been in here before.” It’s kind 
of nice to be able to say, “Well, you’re welcome here.” 

Ms. Cindy Forster: Those are all my questions. 
The Chair (Mr. Norm Miller): Very well. We’ll go 

to the government. Ms. Jaczek. 
Ms. Helena Jaczek: Just quickly, I want to clarify one 

other allegation Mr. Horwath from Air Bravo made. This 
is a direct quote from his testimony: “Well, one thing I 
can see is that it became apparent that they”—and that 
presumably means Ornge—“allowed the unionized 
medics to more or less dictate whether an airplane was to 
go flying or not, based on how they felt about the 
weather, instead of leaving that to the pilot’s choice.” 
Can you clarify for us, is that the case? 

Dr. Andrew McCallum: I don’t accept the premise. I 
don’t think that’s a true statement. It’s always the pilot-
in-command’s decision as to whether or not the airplane 
is going to go flying. 

Ms. Helena Jaczek: Thank you. 
The Chair (Mr. Norm Miller): Mr. Mauro. 
Mr. Bill Mauro: Dr. McCallum, thank you for being 

here. Can you describe for me again, before I get to my 
question, a ramp check? 

Dr. Andrew McCallum: A ramp check is just what 
you would think it is. It’s walking up to the airplane and 
asking to see the relevant equipment and documents that 
are supposed to be carried aboard to the aircraft, based on 
the regulation under which that ramp check is being 
conducted. If it’s a Transport Canada ramp check, they 
use the Canadian air regulations. If it’s us, it will be the 
contract. 

Mr. Bill Mauro: You had expressed a concern that 
Ornge isn’t doing them as much or as frequently or at all 
compared to what they used to? 
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Dr. Andrew McCallum: To be frank, I don’t know 
the frequency. I can tell you I accept what Ted Rabicki 
said. It appears that the frequency has diminished, if it’s 
there. 

Mr. Bill Mauro: I think he said that up till 2011 they 
were doing them, and then they stopped the ramp check 
piece. It wasn’t the only piece they were doing, but that 
piece stopped for some reason. 

Dr. Andrew McCallum: That’s correct. All the other 
checks continue, like the Argus safety checks etc., and 
those are done on-site. 

Mr. Bill Mauro: I need to just respond to it, though, 
because you mentioned in an earlier response to a ques-
tion from one of the other members that Transport 
Canada can still ground an aircraft, and when they do 
their inspections, they still have the authority, and there is 
a layer of inspection there beyond what your organization 
does that would ensure the physical safety of the aircraft. 

Dr. Andrew McCallum: Correct. 
Mr. Bill Mauro: Okay. The enterprise model—both 

Ms. Forster and Mr. Klees have asked. I’m interested in 
that as well. You’ve kind of answered it. On a go-forward 
basis, you’re currently reviewing what the organization 
will look like in terms of whether it’s a fully public 
model or a fully private model. A hybrid model, I guess, 
is what we currently have. Are you needing a signal back 
here before you can make that decision—I think that’s 
what you’re very nicely trying to say—or is that some-
thing that you were going to embark upon? And what’s 
the time frame around that review? 

Dr. Andrew McCallum: I think it’s up to the man-
agement of the company to recommend to the board what 
makes the most sense for the operation. I wouldn’t char-
acterize it as looking for a signal. We obviously are 
entirely dependent on government funding, so there’s a 
considerable amount of clout with that. So if we were 
told to do something, we of course would be in a position 
to listen. 

Mr. Bill Mauro: What’s the time frame? 
Dr. Andrew McCallum: To look at that? 
Mr. Bill Mauro: Well, I thought you said you are 

looking at it now. 
Dr. Andrew McCallum: It will be the next six to 12 

months, as part of the fleet and base location, and aircraft 
allocation. 

Mr. Bill Mauro: Thank you, Mr. Chair. 
The Chair (Mr. Norm Miller): Very well. Mr. Klees. 
Mr. Frank Klees: I’d like to pick up where my 

colleague Mr. Mauro just left off, because I think this is 
central to how we move forward. What I think got us into 
the mess that we are in—or were in, and you’re trying to 
work it out—is that Ornge and Dr. Mazza took the pos-
ition that they could do whatever they choose to do. 
Essentially, their interaction with the government was, 
“We’re here to brief you, but we’re going to do this, 
notwithstanding what you might think.” 

That attitude was actually reinforced by Ministry of 
Health testimony saying that, “Yes, we were told this, but 
it was made very clear that the Ministry of Health has 

nothing to say here. All they need to do is give us the 
money.” So what I’d like to do is get a commitment from 
you that, once your strategic planning process is done 
and once the recommendation has been made to the 
board and the board endorses the go-forward strategy, 
that, then, will be taken to the Ministry of Health, and the 
Ministry of Health, because they’re the ones who are 
funding, will in fact have the final say. Can you confirm 
that for me? 

Dr. Andrew McCallum: Certainly that’s the way I 
intend it to go. 

Mr. Frank Klees: Okay. We had Transport Canada in 
this morning, and the reason that we did is because we 
wanted to review the two inspection reports that they did 
at the beginning of the year that you’re familiar with. I 
won’t go over the details of that again, but there were 
some findings there that were very, very disturbing. 

Can you confirm for us that all of the steps necessary 
to bring Ornge into compliance have been taken, that all 
of the findings that were contained in those two reports 
for both fixed-wing and rotor-wing have in fact been 
dealt with and that Ornge is now in full compliance? 

Dr. Andrew McCallum: To the best of my know-
ledge, yes. 

Mr. Frank Klees: I wonder if we could get from you, 
Dr. McCallum, something in writing confirming that to 
the committee. 

Dr. Andrew McCallum: Sure. 
Mr. Frank Klees: And if, in fact, there are still some 

outstanding items on any of these findings, that we would 
be apprised of them. 

Dr. Andrew McCallum: Sure. 
Mr. Frank Klees: And one final request I have of 

you: In the 7506406 Canada Inc. report—that’s the rotor 
report— 

Dr. Andrew McCallum: Right. 
Mr. Frank Klees: —one of the findings was that 

flight crews had not received the required training in six 
different categories: aircraft servicing, ground handling, 
emergency procedures, aircraft surface contamination, 
aeromedical resource management, line indoctrination 
and, the last one, controlled flight into terrain avoidance. 
There were 22 pilot licences that were identified as pilots 
who had not received that training. 

I would ask you to provide the committee—in confi-
dence; this is not for public consumption—with the 
names of those pilots that those pilot licences relate to. 

Dr. Andrew McCallum: Would you permit me to 
take that under advisement? I’m concerned about the pri-
vacy issue for them there. I have no objection to doing it, 
but I’d like to respect their privacy. 

Mr. Frank Klees: No, no; by all means. Again, as a 
committee, we would commit to hold that private as well. 
It’s not for public consumption, but we would look for-
ward to hearing that. 

Dr. Andrew McCallum: I understand the intent, and I 
can tell the committee that the CFIT training, as it’s 
known—controlled flight into terrain—has been accom-
plished. 
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Some of it was an issue of documentation; some of it 
was an issue related to the fact that the simulator they fly 
is a newer version of the actual Sikorsky aircraft that we 
fly. You can’t find simulators that are exact duplicates of 
the S-76A. There were differences between the two 
which led to some confusion and some difficulty with the 
documentation. 

Mr. Frank Klees: Yes, and, of course, one of the 
other findings of the report was that, while they were 
trained on the one simulator, they were then asked to fly 
in a model that was considerably different in terms of 
configuration. According to the report, there was no 
training in what the differences were. 

Dr. Andrew McCallum: I think it’s a fine point that 
there is no documented training, which isn’t to say—in 
medicine we always have the dictum: If you don’t write 
it down, it wasn’t done. I accept that we can’t verify that 
it was done. 

Mr. Frank Klees: Okay. If you would get back to us 
on that request, I’d appreciate it. 

Dr. Andrew McCallum: I will. I’ll take that under 
advisement. 

Mr. Frank Klees: Thank you. 

The Chair (Mr. Norm Miller): Okay, very well. Do 
you have some more questions, then? 

Ms. Cindy Forster: I just have one question. What is 
line indoctrination? 

Dr. Andrew McCallum: I’m not sure that I’m the 
best person to answer the question. My understanding is 
it is indoctrination as to how the flight line operates and 
how the aircraft is serviced on the ground. 

Ms. Cindy Forster: Okay. Thanks. 
The Chair (Mr. Norm Miller): Is that it? 
Ms. Cindy Forster: That’s it. 
The Chair (Mr. Norm Miller): Okay. Does the gov-

ernment have any further questions? 
Ms. Helena Jaczek: No. 
The Chair (Mr. Norm Miller): Mr. Klees, do you 

have any further questions? 
Mr. Frank Klees: No. 
The Chair (Mr. Norm Miller): Okay, very good. 

Thank you very much, Dr. McCallum, for coming before 
the committee today. We appreciate it. 

We are adjourned. 
The committee adjourned at 1440. 
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